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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the Exchange Act) that reflect our current views with respect to, among other things, our operations and financial performance. These forwardlooking statements are included throughout this Quarterly Report and relate to matters such as our industry, business strategy, goals and expectations
concerning our market position, future operations, margins, profitability, capital expenditures, liquidity and capital resources and other financial and
operating information. We have used the words “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “foreseeable,” “future,”
“intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “will” and similar terms and phrases to identify the forward-looking statements.
The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are based on management’s current expectations and are subject to
uncertainty and changes in circumstances. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. Actual
results may differ materially from these expectations due to changes in global, regional or local economic, business, competitive, market, regulatory and
other factors, many of which are beyond our control, including, for example, the COVID-19 pandemic. We believe that these factors include but are not
limited to those described under Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. These factors should not be construed as
exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements that are included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We undertake
no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except
as may be required by any applicable securities laws.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited).
Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022
2021
Net revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales, general and administrative
Product development
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Other expense, net
Total other expense, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income (loss)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Corsair Gaming, Inc.

$

$

Calculation of net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders of Corsair Gaming,
Inc.:
Net income (loss) attributable to Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Change in redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders of Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders of
Corsair Gaming, Inc.:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

380,691
289,935
90,756

529,414
369,086
160,328

76,131
17,110
93,241
(2,485)

77,853
15,186
93,039
67,289

(1,279)
(499)
(1,778)
(4,263)
983
(3,280)
(407)
(2,873)

(4,946)
(2,425)
(7,371)
59,918
(13,195)
46,723
—
46,723

$

$

$

(2,873)
(2,261)
(5,134)

$

46,723
—
46,723

$
$

(0.05)
(0.05)

$
$

0.51
0.47

95,275
95,275

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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91,951
100,211
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Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Unaudited, in thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022
2021
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive gain (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax benefit of $151 and $0 for the
three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively
Unrealized foreign exchange loss from long-term intercompany loans, net of tax
benefit of $19 and $44 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively
Comprehensive income (loss)
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Corsair Gaming, Inc.

$

$

(2,258)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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(3,280)

(95)
(5,633)
(606)
(5,027)

46,723

165

$

(224)
46,664
—
46,664
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Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts)
March 31,
2022
Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Restricted cash, noncurrent
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Debt maturing within one year
Accounts payable
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities, noncurrent
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9)
Temporary equity
Redeemable noncontrolling interests
Permanent equity
Corsair Gaming, Inc. stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value: 5,000 shares authorized, nil and nil shares issued
and outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively
Common stock, $0.0001 par value: 300,000 shares authorized, 95,373 and 94,510
shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Corsair Gaming, Inc. stockholders’ equity
Nonredeemable noncontrolling interests
Total permanent equity
Total liabilities, temporary equity and permanent equity

$

$

29,049
2,705
236,472
300,423
57,877
626,526
231
19,607
348,424
249,841
74,796
1,319,425

$

4,754
203,454
176,556
384,764
241,709
29,241
52,176
707,890

$

$

62,415
2,734
291,287
298,315
51,024
705,775
231
16,819
317,054
225,709
71,808
1,337,396

4,753
236,120
205,874
446,747
242,898
25,700
53,871
769,216

19,424

—

—

—

10
489,745
93,013
(2,494)
580,274
11,837
592,111
1,319,425

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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December 31,
2021

$

9
470,364
98,147
(340)
568,180
—
568,180
1,337,396
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Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited, in thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2022

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2021
Issuance of common stock in relation to
business acquisition
Noncontrolling interests from business
combination
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Change in redemption value of
redeemable
NCI
Issuance of common stock in connection
with employee equity incentive plans
Shares withheld related to net share
settlement
Stock-based compensation
Balance as of March 31, 2022

94,510

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings

9

$ 470,364

$

98,147

690

1

14,504

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
(2,873)
—

—

—

—

(2,261)

214

—

527

(41)
—
95,373 $

—
—
10

$

—

(340) $

568,180

—

$

Total
Permanent
Equity

$

—

$ 568,180

—

14,505

—
(2,873)
(2,154)

—

—
—
93,013

Nonredeemable
Noncontrolling
Interests

14,505

—
—
(2,154)

—

(867)
5,217
$ 489,745 $

Total
Corsair
Gaming, Inc.
Stockholders’
Equity

12,084
(166)
(81)

(2,261)

—

—

527

—

—
—
(2,494) $

(867)
5,217
580,274 $

12,084
(3,039)
(2,235)

(2,261)
527

—
—
11,837

(867)
5,217
$ 592,111

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2020
Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Issuance of common stock in
connection
with employee equity incentive
plans
Stock-based compensation
Balance as of March 31, 2021

91,935
—
—

152
—
92,087

$

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

9
—
—

$ 438,667
—
—

—
—
9

577
3,076
$ 442,320

Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Corsair
Gaming, Inc.
Stockholders’
Equity

Nonredeemable
Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Permanent
Equity

$

$

$

$

—
—
—

$ 437,390
46,723
(59)

—
—
—

577
3,076
$ 487,707

(2,813)
46,723
—

—
—
43,910

$

$

1,527
—
(59)

—
—
1,468

$

437,390
46,723
(59)

577
3,076
487,707

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited, in thousands)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022
2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Stock-based compensation
Depreciation
Amortization of intangible assets
Debt issuance costs amortization
Loss on debt extinguishment
Deferred income taxes
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired
Payment of deferred contingent consideration
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of debt
Borrowing from line of credit
Repayment of line of credit
Payment of contingent consideration
Proceeds from issuance of shares through employee equity incentive plans
Payment of taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net decrease in cash and restricted cash
Cash and restricted cash at the beginning of the period
Cash and restricted cash at the end of the period
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Equipment purchased and unpaid at period end
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities
Deferred and contingent purchase consideration related to business acquisitions

$

$

(3,280)

46,723

5,147
2,604
10,138
86
—
(4,078)
567

3,076
2,436
8,702
537
439
(3,005)
1,316

54,434
(662)
(8,147)
(35,308)
(27,607)
(6,106)

(13,416)
(13,508)
(4,419)
(26,988)
25,875
27,768

(19,534)
—
(4,365)
(23,899)

(1,684)
(4,353)
(2,036)
(8,073)

(1,250)
293,000
(293,000)
(292)
523
(887)
(1,906)
(1,484)
(33,395)
65,380
31,985

(28,000)
—
—
—
185
—
(27,815)
134
(7,986)
133,568
125,582

$

$

1,207
4,354

$

3,961
413

$

3,322
633
—

$

1,558
3,817
735

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1. Description of Business
Description of Business
Corsair Gaming, Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, “Corsair” the “Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our”), is a
global provider and innovator of high-performance gear for gamers, streamers and content creators, many of which build their own PCs using our
components.
Corsair is organized into two reportable segments:
•

Gamer and creator peripherals. Includes our high-performance gaming keyboards, mice, headsets, controllers, and our streaming gear, which
includes capture cards, Stream Decks, USB microphones, our Facecam streaming camera, studio accessories and EpocCam software, as well as
coaching and training services, among others.

•

Gaming components and systems. Includes our high-performance power supply units, or PSUs, cooling solutions, computer cases, DRAM
modules, as well as high-end prebuilt and custom-built gaming PCs, and gaming monitor, among others.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
Our interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S.
GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding interim financial reporting. The
accounting policies we follow are set forth in Part II, Item 8, Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in our Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2021 which was filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022.
The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021, included herein, was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements
as of that date. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been
condensed, combined or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. Therefore, these interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be
read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2021, included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements, and in
management’s opinion, include all adjustments, which consist of only normal recurring adjustments necessary for the fair statement of our condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2022 and our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. The results for the
three months ended March 31, 2022 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the current fiscal year or any other future periods.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Corsair and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. For consolidated entities where we own less than 100% of the equity, our consolidated net
comprehensive income (loss) is reduced by the portion attributable to the noncontrolling interests.
In determining whether an entity is considered a controlled entity, we apply the VIE (Variable Interest Entity) and VOE (voting interest entity)
models. Entities that do not qualify as a VIE are assessed for consolidation under the VOE model. Under the VOE model, we consolidate the entity if we
determine that we have a controlling financial interest in the entity through our ownership of greater than 50% of the outstanding voting shares of the entity
and that other equity holders do not have substantive voting, participating or liquidation rights.
On January 1, 2022 (the “Closing” or “Closing Date”), we completed the acquisition of a 51% ownership stake in Elgato iDisplay Holdings LTD. and
its related companies (together “iDisplay”). (See Note 5, Business Combination - iDisplay Acquisition for more details on the iDisplay Acquisition). We
have determined that iDisplay does not qualify as a VIE and Corsair has a controlling financial
7
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interest in iDisplay under the VOE model and therefore, iDisplay’s results of operations are fully consolidated with Corsair with effect from January 1,
2022. As a result, we recorded a net loss of $0.4 million attributable to noncontrolling interests in our condensed consolidated statement of operations for
the three months ended March 31, 2022, equal to the 49% of the ownership interest retained in iDisplay by the noncontrolling interests.
Noncontrolling Interests
We have included both redeemable noncontrolling interests and noncontrolling interests in our condensed consolidated balance sheet in connection
with our consolidation of the 51% ownership of iDisplay.
Redeemable noncontrolling interests that are redeemable and not solely within our control are classified within temporary equity in the condensed
consolidated balance sheets. Redeemable noncontrolling interests are measured at the greater of the redemption value (calculated based on the formula
stipulated in the Shareholders Agreement between the iDisplay seller and Corsair and, including the amounts for dividends not currently declared or paid,
for which the payment is not solely within our control), or the carrying value before giving effect to the redemption feature. The redeemable noncontrolling
interests are recorded at their maximum redemption value at each reporting date. The redemption value is remeasured each quarter and changes in the value
are recognized immediately. Any resulting change in the value of the redeemable noncontrolling interests is recognized through retained earnings and this
adjustment also impacts the net income or loss attributable to common stockholders of Corsair Gaming, Inc used in the net income (loss) per share
calculation. (See Note 16 for more information regarding the redeemable noncontrolling interests).
In addition, we have noncontrolling interests recorded at carrying value which do not have redemption features and are classified within permanent
equity in our condensed consolidated balance sheet.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the condensed
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates include, but are not
limited to, the valuation of intangible assets, accounts receivable, sales return reserves, reserves for customer incentives, warranty reserves, inventory,
derivative instruments, stock-based compensation, and deferred income tax. These estimates and assumptions are based on management’s best estimates
and judgment. Management evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including the current
economic environment. We adjust such estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate. Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates due to risks and uncertainties, including uncertainty in the current economic environment due to COVID-19.
Risks and Uncertainties related to the COVID-19 Pandemic
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been and will continue to be uncertainty and disruption in the global economy and financial markets. Since
early 2020, we have experienced an increase in demand for our gear as more people were under shelter-in-place restrictions, which we believe have limited
people’s access to alternative forms of entertainment and social interaction, and thus have increased the demand for home entertainment and connecting
with others through content creation. In contrast, as the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, it has resulted in shelter-in-place and other similar restrictions being
eased. Such easing of restrictions has resulted in consumers returning to other alternative forms of entertainment and interaction. This in turn has resulted in
a decline in demand for our products since the second half of 2021. The extent to which the COVID-19 outbreak ultimately impacts our business, sales,
results of operations, cash flows and financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted,
including, but not limited to, the severity, duration and spread of the outbreak, how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions
can resume, and the actions to contain the virus and prevent any reoccurrence. For example, China's zero-COVID policy has negative implications for
global supply chains generally; factory shutdowns and transport backlogs may result in inventory shortfalls for our products, which could negatively impact
our sales. Even after the COVID-19 outbreak has subsided, we may continue to experience significant impacts to our business as a result of its global
economic impact, including any economic downturn or recession that has occurred or may occur in the future.
As of the date of issuance of these condensed consolidated financial statements, we are not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would
require updates to our estimates and judgments or revisions due to COVID-19 to the carrying value of our assets or liabilities. These estimates may change,
as new events occur and additional information is obtained, and are recognized in the condensed consolidated financial statements as soon as they become
known. Actual results could differ from those estimates and any such differences may be material to the condensed consolidated financial statements.
8
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848), to provide optional expedients and exceptions for applying
generally accepted accounting principles to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are
met. We adopted this standard effective January 1, 2022. The adoption of this new standard did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated
financial statements.
In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805), which requires contract assets and contract liabilities (i.e.,
deferred revenue) acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured by the acquirer on the acquisition date in accordance with ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Generally, this new guidance will result in the acquirer recognizing contract assets and contract liabilities at the
same amounts recorded by the acquiree. Historically, such amounts were recognized by the acquirer at fair value in acquisition accounting. We adopted this
standard effective January 1, 2022. The adoption of this new standard did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Adopted
None.
3. Fair Value Measurement
U.S. GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable
inputs when measuring fair value. The hierarchy is broken down into the following three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1—Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the measurement date.
Level 2—Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active market, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the report date. The
nature of these securities includes investments for which quoted prices are available but traded less frequently and investments that are fair valued using
other securities, the parameters of which can be directly observed.
Level 3—Securities that have little to no pricing observability as of the report date. These securities are measured using management’s best estimate of
fair value, where the inputs into the determination of fair value are not observable and require significant management judgment or estimation.
The carrying values of certain of our financial instruments, including accounts receivable and accounts payable, approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities. The balances of our financial assets that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2022 and December 31,
2021 were not material. The following tables summarize our financial liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis, and indicate the fair
value hierarchy of the valuation inputs utilized to determine such fair value (in thousands):
March 31, 2022
(Level 1)

Liabilities:
Deferred cash consideration in connection with a
business acquisition—SCUF(1)
Foreign currency forward contracts(2)
Other
Total liabilities

$

(Level 2)

—
—
—
—

$

$

$

$

—
—
—
—

$

9

—
163
—
163

$

$

958
—
224
1,182

Total

$

$

$

—
427
—
427

$

$

1,250
—
224
1,474

958
163
224
1,345

$

December 31, 2021
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

(Level 1)

Liabilities:
Deferred cash consideration in connection with a
business acquisition—SCUF(1)
Foreign currency forward contracts(2)
Other
Total liabilities

(Level 3)

Total

$

$

1,250
427
224
1,901
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(1)

On December 19, 2019, one of our subsidiaries entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Scuf Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (collectively “SCUF”) and acquired 100% of their
equity interests (the “SCUF Acquisition”). The fair value of the SCUF contingent consideration was determined based on the estimates of acquired tax benefits owed to SCUF’s sellers
according to the merger agreement, and these estimates represent a level 3 fair value measurement. The $1.3 million liability as of December 31, 2021 consisted of $0.3 million based on a
contractual amount and the remaining $1.0 million is subject to update upon filing our tax return for tax year 2021. In March 2022, we paid the $0.3 million contractual amount, and the
remaining $1.0 million liability as of March 31, 2022 is subject to update upon filing our tax return for tax year 2021.

(2)

The fair values of the forward contracts were based on similar exchange traded derivatives and the related asset or liability is included within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

4. Derivative Financial Instruments
From time to time, we enter into derivative instruments such as foreign currency forward contracts, to minimize the short-term impact of foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations on certain foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities, and interest rate cap contracts, to minimize our exposure
to interest rate movements on our variable rate debts. The derivative instruments are recorded at fair value in prepaid expenses and other current assets or
other liabilities and accrued expenses on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. We do not designate such instruments as hedges for accounting
purposes; accordingly, changes in the value of these contracts are recognized in each reporting period in other (expense) income, net in the condensed
consolidated statements of operations. We do not enter into derivative instruments for trading purposes.
The foreign currency forward contracts generally mature within two to three months. The notional principal amount of outstanding foreign exchange
forward contracts was $48.0 million and $48.6 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively, none of which have been designated as
hedging instruments during the periods presented. Total fair value gains (losses) recognized in other (expense) income, net in relation to these derivative
instruments was $0.5 million and $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
5. Business Combinations
iDisplay Acquisition
On January 1, 2022, we completed the acquisition of a 51% ownership stake in iDisplay, a leader in electronic development and design specializing in
display technology, headquartered in Taiwan.
The fair value consideration for iDisplay was $36.4 million, including $21.9 million in cash and the issuance of 690,333 shares of our common stock
with a fair value of $14.5 million at Closing Date. The consideration was reduced for the effective 51% settlement of a pre-existing contractual accounts
payable balance owed to iDisplay of $3.5 million. The iDisplay Acquisition will allow us to direct the development and integration of iDisplay’s displaybased touch-screen technologies into our products for creators, gamers and streamers. iDisplay’s results of operations are fully consolidated with Corsair
with effect from January 1, 2022.
The seller of iDisplay (the “iDisplay Seller”) has retained 49% noncontrolling interests in iDisplay. Under the Shareholders Agreement between
Corsair and the iDisplay Seller, a put option was provided to the iDisplay Seller and a call option was provided to Corsair for the option to transfer (i) 14%
ownership interest in iDisplay to Corsair upon the first anniversary of the Closing and (ii) an additional 15% of ownership interest in iDisplay to Corsair
upon the second anniversary of the Closing. Both put and call options expire on January 1, 2025. The exercise price of the put option and the call option is
based on multiples of iDisplay’s trailing twelve-month earnings before interest, income tax, depreciation and amortization (“TTM EBITDA”) less any debt.
The 29% noncontrolling interests entitled to the put option is considered a redeemable noncontrolling interests. See Note 2, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies – Noncontrolling Interests and Note 16, Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests for more information regarding the redeemable
noncontrolling interests.
The fair value of the 49% noncontrolling interests was estimated to be $29.6 million. The control premium assigned to Corsair’s 51% controlling
financial interest was 15%, which resulted in an implied minority discount of 13%. The control premium was based on an analysis considering similar
market transactions involving control premiums, as well as factors specific to iDisplay, including its significant customer concentration.
Preliminary purchase price allocation
10
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As of March 31, 2022, the purchase price allocation is still preliminary and based upon estimates and assumptions that are subject to change within
the measurement period as additional information for the estimates is obtained, and its finalization may result in changes to preliminary estimate of
identified intangible assets and goodwill.
The following table presents the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities as of the Closing Date (in thousands):
Preliminary Allocation

Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other assets
Operating lease right-of-use asset
Property and equipment
Identifiable intangible assets
Goodwill
Total assets acquired
Accounts payable
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired
Noncontrolling interests
Fair value of consideration transferred

$

$

Purchase consideration:
Cash
Corsair common stock
Fair value of consideration transferred

$
$

2,330
3,382
2,765
424
360
277
35,300
31,970
76,808
(5,106)
(4,637)
(731)
(360)
(10,834)
65,974
(29,606)
36,368
21,864
14,504
36,368

The fair value of certain working capital related items, including accounts receivable, prepaid and other assets, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, as well as the fair value of property and equipment approximated their book values at the date of the iDisplay Acquisition. The fair value of the
inventories was estimated by major category, at net realizable value, which we believe approximates the price a market participant could achieve in a
current sale. The difference between the fair value of the inventories and the book value recorded by iDisplay on the acquisition date was $0.3 million,
which was recognized in cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations upon the sale of the acquired inventory.
The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the identifiable intangible assets and the net tangible assets and liabilities acquired has
currently been estimated to be $32.0 million, of which $28.5 million and $3.5 million are assigned to our gamer and creator peripherals reporting unit and
gaming component and systems reporting unit, respectively. We believe goodwill represents the strengthening of our supply chain with display-based
touch-screen technologies into our products for creators, gamers and streamers, and the ability to design and generate new technologies to enhance the
features of our products.
The identifiable intangible assets are deductible for tax purposes and a $4.6 million deferred tax liability has been estimated at the date of acquisition
for the difference between the book and tax bases of these assets. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.
Valuation of identified intangible assets
11
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The following table summarizes the valuation of the identifiable intangible assets acquired in the iDisplay Acquisition and the estimate of their
respective useful lives as of Closing Date:
Useful
Life
(In years)

Preliminary Valuation
(In thousands)

Patent portfolio
Supplier relationships
Developed technology
Total identifiable intangible assets

$

5,200
6,700
23,400
35,300

$

6
6
6

The fair value of patent portfolio was estimated using the relief from royalty approach and the economic useful life was determined based on the
average product life cycle of the products manufactured by iDisplay. The supplier relationships intangible asset represents the value assigned to the
relationship iDisplay had established over the years with a broad network of suppliers and OEMs that have been crucial to the quality and magnitude of
iDisplay manufacturing capability. The fair value of supplier relationships was estimated using the multi-period excess earnings approach and the economic
useful life was determined to be aligned with the estimated useful life of the developed technology acquired from iDisplay. The developed technology
intangible asset represents unpatented propriety technologies, such as hardware designs and architectures and process technologies used in the on-going
research and design of the products manufactured by iDisplay. The fair value of developed technology was estimated using the income approach and the
economic useful life was based on the technology cycle of the products manufactured, as well as the cash flows anticipated over the forecasted periods. The
valuations of the intangible assets were calculated with the assistance of a third-party valuation firm. The fair values of these intangibles were valued based
on long-term cash flow projections, which we consider to be Level 3 inputs.
These intangibles are being amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of amortization, which reflects the pattern in
which the economic benefits of the intangible asset are consumed. Amortization of patent portfolio and supplier relationships is included in cost of revenue
and amortization of developed technology is included in product development expense in our condensed consolidated statements of operations.
Acquisition-related costs
We incurred acquisition-related costs of approximately $0.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, and $0.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. These costs are recorded in sales, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.
Unaudited Pro-forma Financial Information
Pro forma financial information is not included because the effects of the acquisition are not material to our consolidated statements of operations for
2021.

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment (in thousands):
Gaming
Components
and
Systems

Balance as of December 31, 2021
Addition from iDisplay Acquisition
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates
Balance as of March 31, 2022

$

145,310
3,485
(22)
148,773

$
12

Gamer and
Creator
Peripherals

$

$

171,744
28,485
(578)
199,651

Total

$

$

317,054
31,970
(600)
348,424
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Intangible assets, net
The following table is a summary of intangible assets, net (in thousands):
March 31, 2022
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Developed technology
Trade name
Customer relationships
Patent portfolio
Non-competition agreements
Supplier relationships
Total finite-life intangibles
Indefinite life trade name
Other
Total intangible assets

$

$

55,486
30,454
218,560
35,799
2,521
6,476
349,296
35,430
123
384,849

December 31, 2021
Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

$

$

17,414
5,429
100,413
9,163
2,319
270
135,008
—
—
135,008

$

$

38,072
25,025
118,147
26,636
202
6,206
214,288
35,430
123
249,841

Gross
Carrying
Amount

$

32,086
30,665
218,566
31,481
2,521
—
315,319
35,430
123
350,872

$

Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

$

14,922
4,942
94,910
8,196
2,193
—
125,163
—
—
125,163

$

$

$

17,164
25,723
123,656
23,285
328
—
190,156
35,430
123
225,709

In the year after an identified intangible asset becomes fully amortized, we remove the fully amortized balances from the gross asset and accumulated
amortization amounts from the table above.
The estimated future amortization expense of intangible assets as of March 31, 2022 is as follows (in thousands):
Amounts

Remainder of 2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

$

30,032
38,530
37,080
36,777
33,405
38,464
214,288

$

7. Balance Sheet Components
The following tables present the components of certain balance sheet amounts (in thousands):
Cash and Restricted Cash
March 31,
2022
Cash
Restricted cash—short term
Restricted cash—noncurrent
Total cash and restricted cash

$

$

29,049
2,705
231
31,985

December 31,
2021
$

$

62,415
2,734
231
65,380

Accounts Receivable, Net
March 31,
2022
Accounts receivable
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable, net

$
$
13

237,001
(529)
236,472

December 31,
2021
$
$

291,816
(529)
291,287
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As of March 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, two customers each represented 10% or more of our consolidated accounts receivable, net.
Inventories
March 31,
2022
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Inventories

$

$

78,467
8,095
213,861
300,423

December 31,
2021
$

$

62,110
4,931
231,274
298,315

Property and Equipment, Net
March 31,
2022
Manufacturing equipment
Computer equipment, software and office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Total property and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

$

$
$

27,938
9,642
4,949
7,802
50,331
(30,724)
19,607

December 31,
2021
$

$
$

26,094
9,407
5,154
4,709
45,364
(28,545)
16,819

Other Assets
March 31,
2022
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax asset
Other
Other assets

$

$

48,620
16,055
10,121
74,796

December 31,
2021
$

$

51,387
12,737
7,684
71,808

Other Liabilities and Accrued Expenses
March 31,
2022
Accrued reserves for customer incentive programs
Accrued reserves for sales return
Accrued payroll and related expense
Accrued freight expenses
Operating lease liabilities, current
Income tax payable
Contract liabilities
Other
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

$

$

60,042
33,285
10,480
13,652
8,756
8,233
4,716
37,392
176,556

December 31,
2021
$

$

66,733
37,166
20,526
18,296
9,457
6,316
6,663
40,717
205,874

Other Liabilities, Noncurrent
March 31,
2022
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent
Other
Other liabilities, noncurrent

$
$
14

49,206
2,970
52,176

December 31,
2021
$
$

51,153
2,718
53,871
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Nonmonetary Transactions
The sales and purchases of inventory with our manufacturers are accounted for as nonmonetary transactions. Upon sale of raw materials to the
manufacturer, for the inventories on-hand with the manufacturer where there is an anticipated reciprocal purchase by us, we will record this nonmonetary
transaction as prepaid inventories and accrued liabilities. When we transact the reciprocal purchase of inventory from the manufacturer, we will record a
payable to the manufacturer at the purchase price, which replaces the initial nonmonetary transaction and inventory will be reflected at carrying value,
which includes the costs for the raw materials and the incremental costs charged by the manufacturer for additional work performed on the inventory. In
connection with such nonmonetary transactions with our manufacturers, as of March 31, 2022, we recognized $6.2 million prepaid inventory and $6.7
million accrued liabilities and as of December 31, 2021, we recognized $5.0 million prepaid inventory and $5.4 million accrued liabilities in the condensed
consolidated balance sheet.
Because the transactions are nonmonetary, they have not been included in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows pursuant to ASC 230,
Statement of Cash Flows.
8. Debt
Our debt consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31,
2022

Term Loan (variable rate) due September 2026
Debt discount and issuance cost, net of amortization
Total debt
Less: debt maturing within one year
Long-term debt

December 31,
2021

$

247,500
(1,037)
246,463
4,754

$

248,750
(1,099)
247,651
4,753

$

241,709

$

242,898

First Lien Credit and Guaranty Agreement (Extinguished in September 2021)
In August 2017, we entered into a syndicated First Lien Credit and Guaranty Agreement (“First Lien”) with various financial institutions. The First
Lien originally provided a $235 million term loan (“First Lien Term Loan”) for a business acquisition and to repay existing indebtedness of the acquired
company and a $50 million revolving line-of-credit (“Revolver”). The First Lien and the Revolver was to mature on August 28, 2024 and August 28, 2022,
respectively. Subsequently, we entered into several amendments to the First Lien and the principal amount of the First Lien Term Loan was increased by
$10 million in 2017 and increased by $115 million in each of 2018 and 2019, primarily to fund various business acquisitions and operation needs.
The First Lien Term Loan initially carried interest at a rate equal to, at our election, either the (a) greatest of (i) the prime rate, (ii) sum of the Federal
Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5%, (iii) one month LIBOR plus 1.0% and (iv) 2%, plus a margin of 3.5%, or (b) the greater of (i) LIBOR and (ii) 1.0%, plus a
margin of 4.5%. The Revolver initially bore interest at a rate equal to, at our election, either the (a) greatest of (i) the prime rate, (ii) sum of the Federal
Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5%, (iii) one month LIBOR plus 1.0% and (iv) 2%, plus 3.5%, or (b) the greater of (i) LIBOR and (ii) 1.0%, plus a margin of
4.5%. As a result of the First Lien amendment in October 2018, the First Lien term loan and Revolver margin were both changed to range from 2.75% to
3.25% for base rate loans and to range from 3.75% to 4.25% for Eurodollar loans, based on our net leverage ratio.
We may prepay the First Lien Term Loan and the Revolver at any time without premium or penalty other than customary LIBOR breakage. In the
three months ended March 31, 2021, with the excess cash on hand, we made voluntary prepayment of $28 million, and accordingly we recorded losses on
extinguishment of debt of $0.4 million. The First Lien Term Loan was subsequently fully prepaid with the proceeds from the Term Loan (defined below)
on September 3, 2021, and as a result, all obligations and covenants thereunder were terminated.
The effective interest rate inclusive of the debt discount and debt issuance costs for the First Lien, was approximately 6.45% for the three months
ended March 31, 2021.
Credit Agreement
On September 3, 2021, we entered into a new Credit Agreement (“Credit Agreement”) which provides for a $100.0 million five-year revolving credit
facility (“Revolving Facility”) and a $250.0 million five-year term loan facility (“Term Loan”), with each
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maturing in September 2026. The Credit Agreement also permits, subject to conditions stated therein, additional incremental facilities in a maximum
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $250.0 million. We may prepay the Term Loan and the Revolving Facility at any time without premium or
penalty.
The credit facilities under the Credit Agreement replaced our senior credit facilities under the First Lien Credit and Guaranty Agreement. The net
proceeds from borrowings under the Credit Agreement of $248.5 million (net of $1.5 million of debt discount) were used to repay all amounts outstanding
under the First Lien Term Loan on September 3, 2021.
The Term Loan and Revolving Facility under the Credit Agreement will each bear interest at the Company’s election, either (a) LIBOR plus a
percentage spread (ranging from 1.25% to 2.0%) based on our total net leverage ratio, or (b) the base rate (described in the Credit Agreement as the greatest
of (i) the prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (iii) one-month LIBOR plus 1.0%) plus a percentage spread (ranging from 0.25% to 1.0%)
based on our net leverage ratio.
Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by substantially all of our U.S. subsidiaries and secured by a security interest in
substantially all assets of the Company and the guarantor subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions detailed in the Credit Agreement and related ancillary
documentation.
The Credit Agreement contains covenants with which we must comply during the term of the agreement, which we believe are ordinary and standard
for agreements of this nature, including the maintenance of a maximum Consolidated Total Net Leverage Ratio of 3.0 to 1.0 and a minimum Consolidated
Interest Coverage Ratio of 3.0 to 1.0 (as defined in our credit facilities). The Credit Agreement also includes events of default customary for facilities of
this nature and upon the occurrence of such events of default, among other things, all outstanding amounts under the Credit Agreement may be accelerated
and/or the lenders’ commitments terminated. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain events of default, the interest on the Term loan and Revolving
Facility can be increased by 2.0%. As of March 31, 2022, we were not in default under the Credit Agreement.
As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had no outstanding balance under the Revolving Facility.
The carrying value of our Term Loan was $246.5 million and $247.7 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The
estimated fair value of the Term Loan as of March 31, 2022, which we have classified as a Level 2 financial instrument, was approximately $255.5 million.
The effective interest rate inclusive of the debt discount and debt issuance costs was approximately 1.49% for the three months ended March 31, 2022.
The following table summarizes the interest expense recognized for all periods presented (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

First Lien Guaranty Agreement:
Contractual interest expense for term loan
Amortization of debt discount and issuance cost
Loss on debt extinguishment
Credit Agreement:
Contractual interest expense for term loan
Contractual interest expense for revolving facility
Amortization of debt discount and issuance cost
Other
Total interest expense recognized

$

$

2021

—
—
—
865
274
86
54
1,279

$

3,882
537
439
—
—
—
88
4,946

$

The estimated future principal payments under our total long-term debt as of March 31, 2022 are as follows (in thousands):
Amounts

Remainder of 2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total debt

$

$
16

3,750
6,875
12,500
12,500
211,875
—
247,500
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9. Commitments and Contingencies
Product Warranties
Changes in our warranty obligations were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Beginning of the period
Warranty provision related to products shipped
Deductions for warranty claims processed
End of period

$

$

2021

5,655
1,298
(1,561)
5,392

$

5,865
1,873
(1,737)
6,001

$

Unconditional Purchase Obligations
Our long-term non-cancelable purchase commitments consist primarily of multi-year contractual arrangements relating to subscriptions for cloud
computing hosting arrangements for our enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system and the related support services as well as marketing sponsorship.
Long-term non-cancelable purchase commitment as of March 31, 2022 were as follows (in thousands):
Amounts

Remainder of 2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

$

$

1,668
2,659
1,793
316
—
—
6,436

Our total long term non-cancelable purchase commitments outstanding as of December 31, 2021 were $7.1 million.
Letters of Credit
The total letters of credit outstanding, in aggregate, was $0.5 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. No amounts have been drawn
upon the letters of credit for all periods presented.
Legal Proceedings
We may from time to time be involved in various claims and legal proceedings of a character normally incident to the ordinary course of business.
Litigation can be expensive and disruptive to normal business operations, and the results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict, and our view
of these matters may change in the future as the litigation and events related thereto unfold. We expense legal fees as incurred and we record a provision for
contingent losses when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Based on currently
available information, we believe there are no existing claims or proceedings that are likely to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, or
the outcome of these
17
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matters is currently not determinable. An unfavorable outcome to any legal matter, if material, could have an adverse effect on our operations or financial
position, liquidity of results of operations.
Indemnification
In the ordinary course of business, we may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms with respect to certain transactions. We have entered
into indemnification agreements with directors and certain officers and employees that will require Corsair, among other things, to indemnify them against
certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers or employees. No demands have been made upon Corsair to
provide indemnification under such agreements, and thus, there are no claims that we are aware of that could have a material effect on our condensed
consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, or statements of cash flows. We currently have directors’ and officers’ insurance.
10. Stockholders’ Equity
On September 25, 2020, in connection with the closing of the IPO, we filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation which increased
the authorized shares of common stock for issuance to 300,000,000 and authorized 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with a par value of $0.0001 per
share, for issuance. There were no shares of preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.
11. Equity Incentive Plans and Stock-Based Compensation
As of March 31, 2022, we have two active equity incentive plans: the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).
The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense by line item in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of
operations (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Cost of revenue
Sales, general and administrative
Product development
Stock-based compensation expense, net of amounts capitalized (1)
Income tax benefits related to stock-based
compensation expense

2021

$

285
4,152
710
5,147

$

181
2,572
323
3,076

$

311

$

919

(1) Total stock-based compensation expense capitalized in inventory and as cloud computing arrangement (“CCA”) implementation costs were not
material for each of the periods presented.
The following table summarizes by type of grant, the total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense and the remaining period over which such
expense is expected to be recognized (in thousands, except number of years):
March 31, 2022
Remaining weighted
Unrecognized Expense
average period (In years)

Stock Options
RSUs
ESPP
Total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense

$

$

30,496
29,714
356
60,566

2.6
3.4
0.3

The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $1.5 million and $4.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
The total fair value of RSUs vested was $2.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, there were no RSUs vested for the three months ended
March 31, 2021.
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12. Net Income (Loss) Per Share
The following table summarizes the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Numerator
Net income (loss)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Change in redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders of Corsair Gaming, Inc.

$

$

Denominator
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities (1)
Total diluted weighted-average shares outstanding

2021

(3,280)
(407)
(2,873)
(2,261)
(5,134)

$

$

95,275
—
95,275

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders of Corsair Gaming, Inc.
Basic
Diluted
Anti-dilutive potential common shares (1)

46,723
—
46,723
—
46,723
91,951
8,260
100,211

$

(0.05)

$

0.51

$

(0.05)

$

0.47

10,383

369

(1) Potential common share equivalents were not included in the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share as the effect would have been antidilutive.

13. Income Taxes
The table below presents our income (loss) before income taxes, income tax benefit (expense) and effective income tax rates for all periods presented
(in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022
2021
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Effective tax rate

$

(4,263)
983
23.1%

$

59,918
(13,195)
22.0%

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and foreign jurisdictions in which we do business. These foreign jurisdictions have statutory tax
rates different from those in the United States. Accordingly, our effective tax rates will vary depending on the relative proportion of foreign to United States
income, the utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards, changes in geographic mix of income and expense, and changes in management’s
assessment of matters such as the ability to realize deferred tax assets, and changes in tax laws.
Our effective tax rates were 23.1% and 22.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The effective tax rate was higher in
the three months ended March 31, 2022, as compared to the same period last year primarily due to a reduction of foreign tax credit upon adopting the new
rules under the 2021 Final Regulations released by Treasury and IRS in December 2021 finalizing certain regulations regarding foreign tax credit and an
increase of the deduction limitation over $1 million on our named executive officers’ stock-based compensation expense.
Unrecognized tax benefits were $3.8 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, and if recognized, would favorably affect the effective
income tax rate in future periods.
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14. Segment and Geographic Information
We have two reportable segments:
•

Gamer and Creator Peripherals. Includes our high-performance gaming keyboards, mice, headsets, controllers, and our streaming gear, which
includes capture cards, Stream Decks, USB microphones, our Facecam streaming camera, studio accessories and EpocCam software, as well as
coaching and training services, among others.

•

Gaming Components and Systems. Includes our high-performance power supply units, or PSUs, cooling solutions, computer cases, DRAM
modules, as well as high-end prebuilt and custom-built gaming PCs, among others.

The segments are defined as those operations our chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) regularly reviews to analyze performance and allocate
resources. Our CODM is determined to be Corsair’s Chief Executive Officer. The results of the reportable segments are derived directly from our reporting
system and are based on the methods of internal reporting which are not necessarily in conformity with GAAP. Management measures net revenue and
gross profit to evaluate the performance of, and allocate resources to, each of the segments.
The table below summarizes the financial information for each reportable segment (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022
Net revenue
Gamer and Creator Peripherals
Gaming Components and Systems
Total net revenue

$
$

Gross Profit
Gamer and Creator Peripherals
Gaming Components and Systems
Total gross profit

$
$

2021
134,148
246,543
380,691

$

43,057
47,699
90,756

$

175,912
353,502
529,414

$

68,866
91,462
160,328

$

The CODM manages assets on a total company basis, not by operating segments; therefore, asset information and capital expenditures by operating
segments are not presented.
Geographic Information
The following table summarizes our net revenue by geographic region based on the location of the customer (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022
Net revenue
Americas
Europe and Middle East
Asia Pacific
Total net revenue

$

$

2021
192,824
122,198
65,669
380,691

$

$

226,388
225,494
77,532
529,414

Revenues from sales to customers in the United States represented 43.6% and 36.2% for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. No other countries besides the United States represented 10% or more of total net revenue for each of the periods presented.
One customer represented at least 10% of total net revenue for each of the periods presented.
15. Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
Under the Shareholders Agreement between Corsair and the iDisplay Seller a put option was provided to the iDisplay Seller to transfer to Corsair (i)
14% of their ownership interest in iDisplay upon the first anniversary of the Closing Date of the iDisplay
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Acquisition, and (ii) an additional 15% of their ownership interest in iDisplay upon the second anniversary of the Closing Date. The put option will expire
after January 1, 2025. The exercise price of the put option is based on multiples of iDisplay’s historical TTM EBITDA less any debt. The put option makes
this portion of the noncontrolling interests redeemable and therefore, the redeemable noncontrolling interests are classified as temporary equity on our
condensed consolidated balance sheet.
As of the Closing Date of the iDisplay Acquisition, the fair value of the total 49% noncontrolling interests in iDisplay has been estimated to be $29.6
million, of which $17.5 million is attributable to the 29% redeemable noncontrolling interests and classified within temporary equity and $12.1 million is
attributable to the 20% noncontrolling interests classified within permanent equity on our condensed consolidated balance sheets.
As of March 31, 2022, based on the formula for determining the value of the iDisplay Seller’s put option and including amounts for dividends not
currently declared, but for which have been accrued based on the Shareholders Agreement, the redemption value of the redeemable noncontrolling interests
was estimated to be $2.3 million higher than the value that is determined without the effect of the iDisplay Seller’s put option and dividends. As a result,
we recorded a $2.3 million increase in the value of the redeemable noncontrolling interest as of March 31, 2022, with offset to retained earnings, and this
also increased the net loss used in the calculation of net loss per share attributable to common stockholders of Corsair Gaming, Inc. for the three months
ended March 31, 2022.
The following table presents the changes in redeemable noncontrolling interests for the period presented (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2022

Balance at beginning of period
Redeemable noncontrolling interests in iDisplay estimated at fair value at Closing Date
Net loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests
Other comprehensive loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests
Change in redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interests
Balance at end of period
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$

$

—
17,522
(241)
(118)
2,261
19,424
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with the condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking statements
based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forwardlooking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” and in other parts of this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q.
Overview
We are a leading global provider and innovator of high-performance gear for gamers, streamers and content creators, many of which build their own
PCs using our components. Our industry-leading gaming gear helps digital athletes, from casual gamers to committed professionals, perform at their peak
across PC or console platforms, and our streaming gear enables streamers and content creators to produce studio-quality content to share with friends or to
broadcast to millions of fans. Our PC components products offer our customers multiple options to build their customized gaming and workstation desktop
PCs. Our solution is the most complete suite of gear that addresses the most critical components for both game performance and streaming. Our product
offering is enhanced by our two proprietary software platforms: iCUE for gamers and the Elgato streaming suite for steamers and content creators,
including our Stream Deck control software, which provide unified, intuitive performance, and aesthetic control and customization across their respective
product families. We also offer digital services to enhance customer experience by integrating esports, coaching, stream deck marketplace, customer care
and extended warranty.
We group our products into two categories (operating segments):
•

Gamer and creator peripherals. Includes our high-performance gaming keyboards, mice, headsets, controllers, and streaming gear, which
includes capture cards, Stream Decks, USB microphones, our Facecam streaming camera, studio accessories, and EpocCam software, as well as
coaching and training services, among others.

•

Gaming components and systems. Includes our high-performance power supply units, or PSUs, cooling solutions, computer cases, and DRAM
modules, as well as high-end prebuilt and custom-built gaming PCs, and gaming monitor, among others.

Our gear is sold to end users worldwide through either our retail channel or our direct-to-consumer channel. In our retail channel, we distribute our
gear either directly to the retailer, such as Amazon and Best Buy, or through key distributors. While we historically have sold a small percentage of our gear
directly to consumers through our website, following the SCUF Acquisition and the Origin Acquisition in 2019, the volume of direct-to-consumer sales has
increased as both of these companies primarily generated sales through direct-to-consumer channels. We expect net revenue from our direct-to-consumer
channel to continue to increase as a percentage of total net revenue in future periods.
In the last two years, we have entered into three large new markets: microphones and cameras for content creators and gaming monitors for both
gamers and content creators. We continue to optimize the value of existing products and to introduce new products to the market driving growth. Over the
longer term, we believe we will be able to continue to grow in new markets as well as the markets that we participate in through innovation and leading
technologies and entry into new categories via organic growth or acquisition. Since 2018, we have completed eight acquisitions, including our acquisition
of 51% of the share capital of iDisplay, a leader in electronic development and design specializing in display technology, in January 2022. The iDisplay
acquisition will allow us to direct the development and integration of iDisplay’s display-based touch-screen technologies into our products for creators,
gamers and streamers. iDisplay’s results of operations are fully consolidated with Corsair with effect from January 1, 2022.
Our net revenue was $380.7 million and $529.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We had net loss of $3.3
million and net income of $46.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Net cash used by operating activities was $2.6
million and net cash provided by operating activities was $27.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We continue to
experience a shift in net revenue towards a more significant mix of our higher margin gamer and creator peripherals segment, which represented 35.2% and
33.2% of total net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As our product portfolio continues to expand, our go-tomarket model has also been evolving with an increased mix of direct-to-consumer sales representing 12.5% and 10.6% of total net revenue for the three
months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Our revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was negatively impacted by a short-term slowdown in consumer spending in Europe, and the
recent higher than expected inflationary pressure also put a curb on worldwide consumer spending. In addition, our management believes the revenue for
the prior year three-month period ended March 31, 2021 reflected strong consumption driven in part by stimulus payments distributed by the United States
federal government to its taxpayers and pent-up demand from prior product shortages. For fiscal 2022, we anticipate that a degree of component shortages,
manufacturing disruptions and logistics challenges will continue to negatively impact our net revenues and profit margins. We also will closely monitor the
unfolding events due to the Russian-Ukraine war and its regional and global ramifications. While the situation is still evolving and the outcomes remain
highly uncertain, these events have, and may continue to have an unfavorable impact on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
position. As of March 31, 2022, the Russia-Ukraine war did not result in any impairment of our assets.
Key Factors Affecting Our Business
Our results of operations and financial condition are affected by numerous factors, including those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” in
Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those described below.
Impact of Industry Trends. Our results of operations and financial condition are impacted by industry trends in the gaming market, including:
•

Increasing gaming engagement. We believe that gaming’s increasing time share of global entertainment consumption will drive continued
growth in spending on both games and gaming gear. Gaming continues to become increasingly social and streaming viewership more widely
adopted along with increasing numbers of content creators. We believe this trend will continue and we are well positioned to serve the streaming
market with best-in-class tools for content creation.

•

Introduction of new high-performance computing hardware and sophisticated games. We believe that the introduction and availability of more
powerful CPUs and GPUs that place increased demands on other system components, such as memory, power supply or cooling, has a
significant effect on increasing the demand for our gear. In addition, we believe that our business success depends in part on the introduction and
success of games with sophisticated graphics that place increasing demands on system processing speed and capacity and therefore require more
powerful CPUs or GPUs, which in turn drives demand for our high-performance gaming components and systems, such as PSUs and cooling
solutions, and our gaming PC memory. As a result, our operating results may be materially affected by the timing of, and the rate at which
computer hardware companies introduce, new and enhanced CPUs and GPUs, as well as the availability and pricing of such CPUs and GPUs,
the timing of, and rate at which computer game companies and developers introduce, sophisticated new and improved games that require
increasingly high levels of system and graphics processing power, and whether these new products and games are widely accepted by gamers.

Impact of Product Mix. Our gamer and creator peripherals segment has a higher gross margin than our gaming components and systems segment. As
a result, our overall gross margin is affected by changes in product mix. External factors can have an impact on our product mix, such as popular game
releases that can increase sales of peripherals and availability of new CPUs and GPUs that can impact component sales. In addition, within our gamer and
creator peripherals and gaming components and systems segments, gross margin varies between products, and significant shifts in product mix within
either segment may also significantly impact our overall gross margin.
Impact of Customer Concentration. We operate a global sales network that consists primarily of retailers (including eRetailers), as well as
distributors we use to access certain retailers. Further, a limited number of retailers and distributors represent a significant portion of our net revenue, with
eRetailer Amazon accounting for 30.4% and 24.6% of our net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and sales to our
ten largest customers accounting for approximately 52.5% and 49.3% of our net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. Our customers typically do not enter into long-term agreements to purchase our gear but instead enter into purchase orders with us. As a result
of this concentration and the lack of long-term agreements with our customers, a primary driver of our net revenue and operating performance is
maintaining good relationships with these retailers and distributors. To help maintain good relationships, we implement initiatives such as our updated
packaging design that helps eRetailers such as Amazon process our packages more efficiently. Further, given our global operations, a significant percentage
of our expenses relate to shipping costs. Our ability to effectively optimize these shipping expenses, for example utilizing expensive shipping options such
as air freight for smaller packages and more urgent deliveries and more cost-efficient options, such as train or boat, for other shipments, has an impact on
our expenses and results of operations.
Impact of New Product Introductions. Gamers demand new technology and product features, and we expect our ability to accurately anticipate and
meet these demands will be one of the main drivers for any future sales growth and market share expansion. Since 2021, we had several product
introductions that had a favorable impact on our net revenue and operating results, such as the introduction of our new K65 mini RGB keyboard and
Elgato’s new accessories including our new Facecam, Corsair DDR5 memory and new high-performance gaming controllers including SCUF Reflex,
Reflex Pro and Reflex FPS, among others. However, there can
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be no assurance that our new product introductions will have a favorable impact on our operating results or that customers will choose our new gear over
those of our competitors.
Impact of Seasonal Sales Trends. Since 2020, our revenue seasonality has been impacted positively and negatively, and thus has not followed historic
patterns, by external events, such as shelter-in-place restrictions, global supply chain and logistics issues and availability of affordable GPUs, primarily
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Historically, prior to 2020, we have experienced and expect to continue to experience seasonal fluctuations in sales
due to the buying patterns of our customers and spending patterns of gamers. Our net revenue has generally been lowest in the first and second calendar
quarters due to lower consumer demand following the fourth quarter holiday season and because of the decline in sales that typically occurs in anticipation
of the introduction of new or enhanced CPUs, GPUs, and other computer hardware products, which usually take place in the second calendar quarter and
which tend to drive sales in the following two quarters. Further, our net revenue tends to be higher in the third and fourth calendar quarter due to seasonal
sales such as “Black Friday,” “Cyber Monday” and “Singles Day” in China, as retailers tend to make purchases in advance of these sales, and our sales also
tend to be higher in the fourth quarter due to the introduction of new consoles and high-profile games in connection with the holiday season. As a
consequence of seasonality, our net revenue for the second calendar quarter is generally the lowest of the year followed by the first calendar quarter.
Historical seasonal patterns may not continue in the future and have been impacted, and may be further impacted in the future, by increasing supply
constraints, GPU shortages, shifts in customer behavior and the evolving impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Impact of Fluctuations in Currency Exchange Rates. We are subject to inherent risks attributed to operating in a global economy. Some of our
international sales are denominated in foreign currencies and any unfavorable movement in the exchange rate between U.S. dollars and the currencies in
which we conduct sales in foreign countries, in particular the Euro and the British Pound could have an adverse impact on our net revenue. In addition, we
generally pay our employees located outside the United States in the local currency, with a significant portion of those payments being made in Taiwan
dollars and Euros. Additionally, as a result of our foreign sales and operations, we have other expenses, assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currencies, in particular the Chinese Yuan, Euro and British Pound.
Impact of COVID-19. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been and will continue to be uncertainty and disruption in the global economy and
financial markets. Since early 2020, we have experienced an increase in demand for our gear as more people were under shelter-in-place restrictions, which
we believe have limited people’s access to alternative forms of entertainment and social interaction, and thus have increased the demand for home
entertainment and connecting with others through content creation. In contrast, as the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, it has resulted in shelter-in-place and
other similar restrictions being eased, starting in the second half of 2021. Such easing of restrictions has resulted in consumers returning to other alternative
forms of entertainment and interaction. This in turn has resulted in a decline in demand for our products since the second half of 2021. The extent to which
the COVID-19 outbreak ultimately impacts our business, sales, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including, but not limited to, the severity, duration and spread of the outbreak, how
quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume, and the actions to contain the virus and prevent any reoccurrence. For
example, China's zero-COVID policy has negative implications for global supply chains generally; factory shutdowns and transport backlogs may result in
inventory shortfalls for our products, which could negatively impact our sales. Even after the COVID-19 outbreak has subsided, we may continue to
experience significant impacts to our business as a result of its global economic impact, including any economic downturn or recession that has occurred or
may occur in the future.
We continue to evaluate the nature and extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic to our business and we have implemented various measures
to attempt to mitigate the disruptive logistics impact to our business, specifically around managing inventory stocking levels at our distribution hubs and
determining the mode of shipment used to deploy our gear to the customers, and we are also ready to implement adjustments to our expenses and cash flow
in the event of declines in revenues.
Impact of Fluctuations in Integrated Circuits Pricing. Integrated circuits, or ICs, account for most of the cost of producing our high-performance
memory products. IC prices are subject to pricing fluctuations which can affect the average sales prices of memory modules, and thus impact our net
revenue, and can have an effect on gross margins. The impact on net revenues can be significant as our high-performance memory products, included
within our gaming components and systems segment, represent a significant portion of our net revenue.
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Components of our Operating Results
Net Revenue
We generate materially all of our net revenue from the sale of gamer and creator peripherals and gaming components and systems to retailers,
including online retailers, gamers and distributors worldwide. Our revenue is recognized net of allowances for returns, discounts, sales incentives and any
taxes collected from customers.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily of product costs, including costs of contract manufacturers, inbound freight costs from manufacturers to our
distribution hubs as well as inter-hub shipments, cost of materials and overhead, duties and tariffs, warranty replacement cost to process and rework
returned items, depreciation of tooling equipment, warehousing costs, excess and obsolete inventory write-downs, and certain allocated costs related to
facilities and information technology, or IT, and personnel-related expenses and other operating expenses related to supply chain logistics.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses consist of product development and sales, general and administrative expenses.
Sales, general and administrative. Sales, general and administrative, or SG&A expenses represent the largest component of our operating expenses
and consist of distribution costs, sales, marketing and other general and administrative costs. Distribution costs include outbound freight and the costs to
operate our distribution hubs. Sales and marketing costs relate to the costs to operate our global sales force that works in conjunction with our channel
partners, gaming team and event sponsorships, advertising and marketing promotions of our products and services, costs of maintaining our web store and
credit card processing fees related to sales on our webstore, personnel-related cost and allocated overhead costs. General and administrative costs consist
primarily of personnel-related expenses for our finance, legal, human resources, IT and administrative personnel, as well as the costs of professional
services related to these functions and allocated overhead costs.
We expect our total sales, general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to actively promote and distribute a
higher volume of our products and also due to the anticipated growth of our business and related infrastructure, including increases in legal, accounting,
insurance, compliance, investor relations and other consulting costs.
Product development. Product development costs are generally expensed as incurred. Product development costs consist primarily of the costs
associated with the design and testing of new products and improvements to existing products. These costs relate primarily to compensation of personnel
and consultants involved with product design, definition, compatibility testing and qualification, as well as depreciation costs of equipment used, prototype
material costs and allocated overhead costs.
We expect our product development expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to make significant investments in developing new
products and enhancing existing products.
Interest Expense
Interest expense consists of interest associated with our debt financing arrangements, including our revolving line of credit, amortization of debt
issuance costs and debt discounts, loss from debt extinguishment, consisting of the write-off of unamortized debt discount and fees associated with the
prepayment of our term loans.
Other (Expense) Income, Net
Other (expense) income, net consists primarily of our foreign currency exchange gains and losses relating to transactions and remeasurement of asset
and liability balances denominated in foreign currencies. We expect our foreign currency gains and losses to continue to fluctuate in the future due to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Income Tax Expense
We are subject to income taxes in the United States and foreign jurisdictions in which we do business. These foreign jurisdictions have statutory tax
rates different from those in the United States. Accordingly, our effective tax rates will vary depending on the relative proportion of foreign to United States
income, the utilization of foreign tax credits and changes in tax laws. Deferred tax assets are reduced through the establishment of a valuation allowance, if,
based upon available evidence, it is determined that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
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Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the tax and financial reporting bases of our assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in future years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests represents the share of the net income (loss) of iDisplay attributable to the 49% ownership
interest of iDisplay not acquired by Corsair.
Results of Operations
The following tables set forth the components of our condensed consolidated statements of operations, in dollars (thousands) and as a percentage of
total net revenue, for each of the periods presented.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Net revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales, general and administrative
Product development
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Other expense, net
Total other expense, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income (loss)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Corsair Gaming, Inc.

$

$
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2021

380,691
289,935
90,756

$

529,414
369,086
160,328

76,131
17,110
93,241
(2,485)

77,853
15,186
93,039
67,289

(1,279)
(499)
(1,778)
(4,263)
983
(3,280)
(407)
(2,873)

(4,946)
(2,425)
(7,371)
59,918
(13,195)
46,723
—
46,723

$
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Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

Net revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales, general and administrative
Product development
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Other expense, net
Total other expense, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income (loss)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Corsair Gaming, Inc.

2021

100.0%
76.2
23.8

100.0%
69.7
30.3

20.0
4.5
24.5
(0.7)

14.7
3.0
17.7
12.6

(0.3)
(0.1)
(0.4)
(1.1)
0.3
(0.8)
(0.1)
(0.7)%

(0.9)
(0.5)
(1.4)
11.2
(2.5)
8.7
—
8.7%

Components of Results of Operations
Net Revenue
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

2021
(In thousands)

Net revenue

$

380,691

$

529,414

Net revenue decreased $148.7 million, or 28.1%, for the three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared to the same period last year. The decrease
was due to a 23.7% decrease in sales for our gamer and creator peripherals segment and a 30.3% decrease in sales for our gaming components and systems
segment. We believe the decrease in sales in both segments was primarily due to consumer consumption in Europe being negatively impacted by the
Russia-Ukraine war, coupled with lower consumer discretionary spending due to inflationary pressures world-wide, as well as a slow-down in demand
compared to the same period last year as a result of the easing of the COVID-19 shelter-in-place restrictions, starting in the second half of 2021, resulting in
the reopening of most outside entertainment.
Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

2021
(In thousands)

Gross profit
Gross margin

$

90,756
23.8%

$

160,328
30.3%

Gross margin decreased to 23.8% for the three months ended March 31, 2022 from 30.3% for the same period last year. The decrease was due to
increased freight costs largely driven by global shipping and logistics challenges caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, increased promotional activity, lower
absorption of fixed costs as a result of the lower sales volume, as well as increased amortization of intangible assets from the iDisplay Acquisition.
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Sales, General and Administrative (SG&A)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

2021
(In thousands)

Sales, general and administrative

$

76,131

$

77,853

SG&A expenses decreased $1.7 million, or 2.2%, for the three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared to the same period last year. The decrease
was primarily due to a $2.4 million decrease in personnel-related costs with lower bonus expense, offset partially by increased marketing and advertising
expense.
Product Development
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

2021
(In thousands)

Product development

$

17,110

$

15,186

Product development expenses increased $1.9 million, or 12.7%, for the three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared to the same period last year.
The increase was primarily due to a $1.1 million increase in amortization of intangible assets acquired in the iDisplay Acquisition and a $0.6 million
increase in personnel-related expense.
Interest Expense and Other (Expense) Income, Net
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

2021
(In thousands)

Interest expense
Other (expense) income, net

$

(1,279)
(499)

$

(4,946)
(2,425)

Interest expense decreased $3.7 million, or 74.1%, for the three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared to the same period last year. The decrease
in interest expense was primarily due to lower principal balance on our Term Loan executed in September 2021 which replaced our First Lien Term Loan
and lower interest rate compared to the same period last year.
Other (expense) income, net is primarily comprised of foreign exchange gains and losses on cash, accounts receivable and intercompany balances
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of our subsidiaries. Our foreign currency exposure is primarily driven by fluctuations in the
foreign currency exchanges rates of the Euro, British Pound and the Chinese Yuan.
Income Tax Benefit (Expense)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2022

2021
(In thousands)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Effective tax rate

$

(4,263)
983
23.1%

$

59,918
(13,195)
22.0%

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and foreign jurisdictions in which we do business. These foreign jurisdictions have statutory tax
rates different from those in the United States. Accordingly, our effective tax rates will vary depending on the relative proportion of foreign to United States
income, the utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards, changes in geographic mix of income and expense, and changes in management’s
assessment of matters such as the ability to realize deferred tax assets, and changes in tax laws.
Our effective tax rates were 23.1% and 22.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The effective tax rate was higher in
the three months ended March 31, 2022, as compared to the same period last year primarily due to a reduction
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of foreign tax credit upon adopting the new rules under the 2021 Final Regulations released by Treasury and IRS in December 2021 finalizing certain
regulations regarding foreign tax credit and an increase of the deduction limitation over $1 million on our named executive officers’ stock-based
compensation expense.
Segment Results
Segment Net Revenue
The following table sets forth our net revenue by segment expressed both in dollars (thousands) and as a percentage of net revenue:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
Gamer and Creator Peripherals Segment
Gaming Components and Systems Segment
Memory Products
Other Component Products
Total Net Revenue

$

134,148

35.2%

$

132,154
114,389
246,543
380,691

34.7
30.0
64.8
100.0%

$

175,912

33.2%

$

161,864
191,638
353,502
529,414

30.6
36.2
66.8
100.0%

Gamer and Creator Peripherals Segment
Net revenue of the gamer and creator peripherals segment decreased $41.8 million, or 23.7%, for the three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared
to the same period last year, due to decreased sales across most products in this segment. The decrease in sales was driven primarily by the decline in
consumer demand in Europe due to the war between Russian and Ukraine as well as the inflationary economic pressures. The decrease in sales was also
due to the easing of the COVID-19 shelter-in-place restriction, starting in the second half of 2021, resulting in the reopening of most outside entertainment.
Gaming Components and Systems Segment
Net revenue of the gaming components and systems segment decreased $107.0 million, or 30.3%, for the three months ended March 31, 2022 as
compared to the same period last year, due to decreased sales across most products in this segment. The decrease was primarily driven primarily by the
decline in consumer demand in Europe due to the war between Russian and Ukraine as well as the inflationary economic pressures. The decrease in sales
was also attributable to the shortage of reasonably priced GPUs which curtailed the demand for new PC builds and its components, as well as supply and
logistics constraints caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Segment Gross Profit and Gross Margin
The following table sets forth our gross profit expressed in dollars (thousands) and gross margin (which we define as gross profit as a percentage of
net revenue) by segment:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
Gamer and Creator Peripherals Segment
Gaming Components and Systems Segment
Memory Products
Other Component Products
Total Gross Profit
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$

43,057

32.1%

$

21,065
26,634
47,699
90,756

15.9
23.3
19.3
23.8%

$

68,866

39.1%

$

33,923
57,539
91,462
160,328

21.0
30.0
25.9
30.3%
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Gamer and Creator Peripherals Segment
The gross profit of the gamer and creator peripherals segment decreased in the three months ended March 31, 2022 by $25.8 million, or 37.5%, as
compared to the same period last year. The 7.0% decrease in gross margin in the three-month period, compared to the same period last year, was driven
primarily by increased logistics costs, largely due to the COVID-19 pandemic, increased promotional activity, as well as increased amortization of
intangible assets from the iDisplay Acquisition.
Gaming Components and Systems Segment
The gross profit of the gaming components and systems segment decreased in the three months ended March 31, 2022 by $43.8 million, or 47.8%, as
compared to the same period last year. The 6.6% decrease in gross margin in the three-month period, compared to the same period last year, was driven
primarily by increased logistics costs, largely due to the COVID-19 pandemic, increased promotional activity, downward pressure on pricing for our
memory products, and lower absorption of fixed costs as a result of the lower sales volume.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of liquidity have been the payments received from customers purchasing our products and the borrowings under our Credit
Agreement (defined below). Our principal uses of cash generally will include purchases of inventory, payroll and other operating expenses related to the
development and marketing of our products, capital expenditure, repayments of debt and related interest, income tax payments, continued investments in
businesses and technology, and selective mergers and acquisitions.
As of March 31, 2022, we had cash and restricted cash, in aggregate of $32.0 million, including $16.7 million held by our foreign subsidiaries.
Amounts held outside of the United States are generally utilized to support our non-U.S. liquidity needs. Repatriations of amounts held outside the United
States generally will not be taxable from a U.S. federal tax perspective, but may be subject to state income or foreign withholding tax. We do not expect
restrictions or potential taxes incurred on repatriation of amounts held outside of the United States to have a material effect on our overall liquidity,
financial condition or results of operations.
We believe that the anticipated cash flows from operations based on our current business outlook, combined with our current levels of cash balances at
March 31, 2022, supplemented with the borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund our principal uses of cash for at least the
next twelve months. In the longer term, liquidity will depend to a great extent on our future revenues and our ability to appropriately manage our costs
based on the demand for our products. We may require additional funding and need or choose to raise the required funds through borrowings or public or
private sales of debt or equity securities. The sale of additional equity would result in additional dilution to our stockholders. The incurrence of debt
financing would result in debt service obligations and the instruments governing such debt could provide for operating and financial covenants that would
restrict our operations. There can be no assurance that any such equity or debt financing will be available on favorable terms, or at all.
Liquidity
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

30

(6,106)
(23,899)
(1,906)

$

27,768
(8,073)
(27,815)
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash used by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was $6.1 million and consisted of net loss of $3.3 million and $17.3
million net cash outflow from changes in our net operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by non-cash adjustments of $14.5 million. The net cash
outflow from changes in our net operating assets and liabilities was primarily related to a decrease in accounts payable due to timing of payments and a
decrease in other liabilities and accrued expenses mainly due to lower accrual for sales returns and customer incentives and bonus expense, as well as an
increase in prepaid and other assets. The net cash outflows were partially offset by a decrease in accounts receivable. The non-cash adjustments consisted
primarily of amortization of intangibles, depreciation and stock-based compensation expense, which were partially offset by changes in deferred tax assets.
Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $27.8 million and consisted of net income of $46.7 million,
non-cash adjustments of $13.5 million and were partially offset by $32.4 million from changes in our net operating assets and liabilities. The non-cash
adjustments consisted primarily of amortization of intangibles and depreciation, stock-based compensation expense, loss on debt extinguishment and
amortization of debt issuance costs. The net cash outflow from changes in our net operating assets and liabilities was primarily related to increase in
inventory, accounts receivable and prepaid expenses and other assets, as well as a decrease in accounts payable mainly due to timing of payments. The net
cash outflow was partially offset by an increase in other liabilities and accrued expenses.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities was $23.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and consisted of $19.5 million for the iDisplay
Acquisition (net of cash acquired) and $4.4 million for the purchase of capital equipment and software.
Cash used in investing activities was $8.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and consisted of $4.4 million for the payment of
deferred and contingent consideration related to Origin acquisition, $2.0 million for the purchase of capital equipment and software, and $1.7 million for
the acquisition of an immaterial business.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Cash used in financing activities was $1.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and consisted primarily of $1.3 million repayment of
debt and $0.9 million payment of taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards, partially offset by $0.5 million proceeds received from the issuance
of shares through the employee equity incentive plans. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, we also borrowed $293.0 million from our
revolving credit facility to fund our operations and the full amount was repaid within the same quarter.
Cash used in financing activities was $27.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and consisted of $28.0 million repayment of debt and
was partially offset by $0.2 million proceeds received from the exercise of employee stock options.
Capital Resources
Credit Agreement (Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility)
On September 3, 2021, we refinanced the First Lien Credit and Guaranty Agreement with a new Credit Agreement (“Credit Agreement”). The new
Credit Agreement provides for a total commitment of $350 million, consisting of a $100 million revolving credit facility (“Revolving Credit Facility”) and
a $250 million term loan facility (“Term Loan”). The net proceeds from borrowings under the Term Loan of $248.5 million (net of $1.5 million of debt
discount) were used to repay all amounts outstanding under the First Lien Term Loan on September 3, 2021.
The Credit Agreement is available for a period of five years, maturing September 2026, and provides for additional incremental facilities up to a
maximum aggregate principal amount of $250.0 million, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. We may prepay the Term Loan and the Revolving
Facility at any time without premium or penalty.
The Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility under the Credit Agreement will each bear interest at our election, either (a) LIBOR plus a percentage
spread (ranging from 1.25% to 2.0%) based on our total net leverage ratio, or (b) the base rate (described in
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the Credit Agreement as the greatest of (i) the prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (iii) one-month LIBOR plus 1.0%) plus a percentage
spread (ranging from 0.25% to 1.0%) based on our total net leverage ratio.
Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by substantially all of our U.S. subsidiaries and secured by a security interest in
substantially all assets of the Company and the guarantor subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions detailed in the Credit Agreement and related ancillary
documentation.
The Credit Agreement contains covenants with which we must comply during the term of the agreement, which we believe are ordinary and standard
for agreements of this nature, including the maintenance of a maximum Consolidated Total Net Leverage Ratio of 3.0 to 1.0 and a minimum Consolidated
Interest Coverage Ratio of 3.0 to 1.0 (as defined in our credit facilities). The Credit Agreement also includes events of default customary for facilities of
this nature and upon the occurrence of such events of default, among other things, all outstanding amounts under the Credit Agreement may be accelerated
and/or the lenders’ commitments terminated. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain events of default, the interest on the Term loan and Revolving
Credit Facility can increase by 2.0%. As of March 31, 2022, we were not in default under the Credit Agreement. As of March 31, 2022, total principal
outstanding of the Term Loan was $247.5 million and the available and uncommitted capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $99.5 million.
Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments
The following table summarizes our contractual cash and other obligations as of March 31, 2022 (in thousands):

Total

Debt principal and interest payments (1)
Inventory-related purchase obligations (2)
Operating lease obligations (3)
Other purchase obligations (4)
Contingent consideration in connection
with a business acquisition
Total
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

$

285,244
167,513
70,234
35,469

$

12,650
167,513
10,053
31,745

958
$

Payments Due by Period
1-3
Years

Less than
1 Year

559,418

$

958
$

222,919

40,675
—
20,356
3,664

3-5
Years

$

—
$

64,695

More than
5 Years

231,919
—
11,855
60

$

—
$

243,834

—
—
27,970
—
—

$

27,970

Amounts represent the principal cash payments as of March 31, 2022 of our Term Loan based on the repayment schedule according to the Credit
Agreement and the expected interest payments associated with the Term Loan. See Note 8 “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements for more
information.
Amounts represent an estimate of purchase obligations related to inventory.
Amounts represent contractual obligations from our operating leases for offices and warehouse spaces.
Amounts represent non-cancelable obligations related to capital expenditures, software licenses, marketing and other activities.

As of March 31, 2022, we had $2.4 million in non-current income tax payable, including interest and penalties, related to our income tax liability for
uncertain tax positions. At this time, we are unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of payments in individual years in connection with
these tax liabilities; therefore, such amounts are not included in the contractual cash obligation table above.
Critical Accounting Polices and Estimates
A critical accounting policy is defined as one that has both a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations and requires us to
make difficult, complex and/or subjective judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain. Our
consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"), which requires us to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the
condensed consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based
on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be applicable and we evaluate them on an ongoing basis to ensure they remain
reasonable under current conditions. Actual results may differ significantly from those estimates, which could have a material impact on our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.
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Other than the new items discussed in Note 2 of our condensed consolidated financial statements, there have been no material changes to our critical
accounting policies and estimates during the three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared to the critical accounting policies and estimates described in
our Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for recent accounting
pronouncements adopted and to be adopted.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position
due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of fluctuations in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates.
Interest Rate Risk
As of March 31, 2022, we had cash and restricted cash of $32.0 million, which consisted primarily of bank deposits. Our cash is held for working
capital purposes.
As of March 31, 2022, under the Credit Agreement, we had $247.5 million Term Loan outstanding (face value), and the Term Loan bears variable
market rates, primarily LIBOR. Refer to Note 8 “Debt - Credit Agreement” for additional information on the Credit Agreement. A significant change in
these market rates may adversely affect our operating results. As of March 31, 2022, a hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates would result in a
change to annual interest expense by approximately $2.5 million.
Foreign Currency Risk
Approximately 16.9% of our net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was denominated in foreign currencies, primarily Euro and
British Pound. Any unfavorable movement in the exchange rate between U.S. dollars and the currencies in which we conduct sales in foreign countries
could have an adverse impact on our net revenue and gross margins as we may have to adjust local currency product pricing due to competitive pressures if
there is significant volatility in foreign currency exchange rates. Our operating expenses are denominated in the currencies of the countries in which our
operations are located, which are primarily in the United States, Europe, China and Taiwan. Our operating results and cash flows are, therefore, subject to
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
We enter into forward currency contracts to reduce the short-term effects of currency fluctuations on Euro, British Pound, and Chinese Yuan
denominated cash, accounts receivable, and intercompany receivable and payable balances. These forward contracts generally mature within two to three
months, and we do not enter into foreign currency forward contracts for trading purposes. The outstanding notional principal amount was $48.0 million and
$48.6 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The gains or losses on these contracts are recognized in earnings based on the
changes in fair value.
The impact of changes in foreign currency rates, including the gains or (losses) on the forward currency contracts, recognized in other (expense)
income, net was $(0.6) million and $(3.8) million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. A hypothetical ten percent change in
exchange rates between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar would increase or decrease our gains or losses on foreign currency exchange of
approximately $0.6 million in our consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2022.
34

Table of Contents
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of
judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely.
Accordingly, any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide
reasonable, not absolute assurances. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. We intend to
continue to monitor and upgrade our internal controls as necessary or appropriate for our business, but there can be no assurance that such improvements
will be sufficient to provide us with effective internal control over financial reporting.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2022, our disclosure controls and
procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2022 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
We may from time to time be involved in various legal proceedings of a character normally incident to the ordinary course of our business. Although
the outcome of any pending matters, and the amount, if any, of our ultimate liability and any other forms of remedies with respect to these matters, cannot
be determined or predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations or financial condition.
Item 1A.
Risk Factor Summary
Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not address all of
the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other risks that we face, can be found below under the
heading “Risk Factors” and should be carefully considered, together with other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our other filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, before making investment decisions regarding our common stock.
•

Our competitive position and success in the market depend to a significant degree upon our ability to build and maintain the strength of our
brand among gaming enthusiasts and any failure to build and maintain our brand may seriously harm our business.

•

Our success and growth depend on our ability to continuously develop and successfully market new gear and improvements. If we are unable to
do so, demand for our current gear may decline and new gear we introduce may not be successful.

•

We depend upon the introduction and success of new third-party high-performance computer hardware, particularly graphics processing units, or
GPUs, and central processing units, or CPUs, and sophisticated new video games to drive sales of our gear. If newly introduced GPUs, CPUs and
sophisticated video games are not successful, if the rate at which those products are introduced declines or if such products are not readily
available, it may seriously harm our business.

•

We face intense competition, and if we do not compete effectively, we could lose market share, demand for our gear could decline and our
business may be seriously harmed.

•

If the gaming industry, including streaming and esports, does not grow as expected or declines, our business could be seriously harmed.

•

If we lose or are unable to attract and retain key management, our ability to compete could be seriously harmed and our financial performance
could suffer.

•

Currency exchange rate fluctuations could result in our gear becoming relatively more expensive to our overseas customers or increase our
manufacturing costs, each of which may seriously harm our business.

•

Total unit shipments of our gear tend to be higher during the third and fourth quarters of the year. As a result, our sales are subject to seasonal
fluctuations, which may seriously harm our business.

•

The coronavirus outbreak has had, and could continue to have, a materially disruptive effect on our business.

•

The ongoing military action between Russia and Ukraine could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

•

We are controlled by a single stockholder, whose interest in our business may be different than yours.

•

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, rules and, as a result, will qualify for, and intend to rely
on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. You will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies
that are subject to such requirements.

Risk Factors
Our business involves significant risks, some of which are described below. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below,
together with all of the other information contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q such as “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial
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statements and related notes. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, revenue and
future prospects could be seriously harmed. In such event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose all or part of your
investment. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we
currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q also
contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forwardlooking statements as a result of factors that are described below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Unless otherwise indicated,
references to our business being seriously harmed in these risk factors and elsewhere will include harm to our business, reputation, financial condition,
results of operations, revenue and future prospects.
Risks Related to Our Business
Our competitive position and success in the market depend to a significant degree upon our ability to build and maintain the strength of our
brands among gaming enthusiasts and streamers, and any failure to build and maintain our brands may seriously harm our business.
We regard our brands as a valuable asset, and we consider it essential to both maintaining and strengthening our brands that we be perceived by
current and prospective customers as a leading supplier of cutting-edge, high-performance gear for gaming and streaming. This requires that we constantly
innovate by introducing new and enhanced gear that achieves significant levels of acceptance among gamers. We also need to continue to invest in, and
devote substantial resources to, advertising, marketing and other efforts to create and maintain brand recognition and loyalty among our retailer customers,
distributors and gamers. However, product development, marketing and other brand promotion activities may not yield increased net revenue and, even if
they do, any increased net revenue may not offset the expenses incurred in building our brands. Further, certain marketing efforts such as sponsorship of
esports athletes, content creators or events could become prohibitively expensive, and as a result these marketing initiatives may no longer be feasible.
If we fail to build and maintain our brands, or if we incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to build and maintain our brands, our
business may be harmed. Our brands may also be damaged by events such as product recalls, perceived declines in quality or reliability, product shortages,
damaging action or conduct of our sponsored esports athletes or content creators and other events, some of which are beyond our control.
Our success and growth depend on our ability to continuously develop and successfully market new gear and improvements. If we are unable to
do so, demand for our current gear may decline and new gear we introduce may not be successful.
The gear we sell, which includes gamer and creator peripherals and gaming components and systems, is characterized by short product life cycles,
frequent new product introductions, rapidly changing technology and evolving industry standards. In addition, average selling prices of some of our gear
tend to decline as the gear matures, and we expect this trend to continue. As a result, we must continually anticipate and respond to changing gamer
requirements, innovate in our current and emerging categories of gear, introduce new gear and enhance existing gear in a timely and efficient manner in
order to remain competitive and execute our growth strategy.
We believe that the success of our gear depends to a significant degree on our ability to identify new features or category opportunities, anticipate
technological developments and market trends and distinguish our gear from those of our competitors. In order to further grow our business, we also will
need to quickly develop, manufacture and ship innovative and reliable new gear and enhancements to our existing gear in a cost-effective and timely
manner to take advantage of developments in enabling technologies and the introduction of new computer hardware, such as new generations of GPUs and
CPUs, and computer games, all of which drive demand for our gear. Further, our growth depends in part on our ability to introduce and successfully market
new gear and categories of gear. For example, in the last 18 months, we entered into three large new markets, namely the microphones and cameras
markets for content creators and the gaming monitors market for both gamers and content creators, and in the future, we intend to introduce other gear
designed to appeal to these markets. To the extent we do so, we will likely encounter competition from large, well-known consumer electronics and
peripherals companies. Some of these companies have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing and other resources than we do and may be
able to devote greater resources to the design, development, manufacturing, distribution, promotion, sale and support of their products. We cannot predict
whether we will be successful in developing or marketing new gear and categories of gear and, if we fail to do so, our business may be seriously harmed.
In addition, we implemented a work from home policy for many of our employees as a result of the COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak, which may
have a substantial impact on attendance, morale and productivity, disrupt access to facilities, equipment,
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networks, corporate systems, books and records and may add additional expenses and strain on our business. The duration and extent of the impact from
the coronavirus outbreak on our business depends on future developments that cannot be accurately predicted at this time, such as the severity and
transmission rate of the virus, the extent and effectiveness of containment actions and the impact of these and other factors on our employees. If a
substantial number of our employees continue to work from home, it could negatively impact new gear and improvements and potentially result in delays
or releasing significant updates.
If we do not execute on these factors successfully, demand for our current gear may decline and any new gear that we may introduce may not gain
widespread acceptance. If this were to occur, our business may be seriously harmed. In addition, if we do not continue to distinguish our gear through
distinctive, technologically advanced features and designs, as well as continue to build and strengthen our brand recognition and our access to distribution
channels, our business may be seriously harmed
We depend upon the introduction and success of new third-party high-performance computer hardware, particularly GPUs and CPUs, and
sophisticated new video games to drive sales of our gear. If newly introduced GPUs, CPUs and sophisticated video games are not successful, if the
rate at which those products are introduced declines, or if they are not readily available, it may seriously harm our business.
We believe that the introduction of more powerful GPUs, CPUs and similar computer hardware that place increased demands on other system
components, such as memory, PSUs or cooling, has a significant effect on the demand for our gear. The manufacturers of those products are large, public,
independent companies that we do not influence or control. As a result, our business results can be materially affected by the frequency with which new
high-performance hardware products are introduced by these independent third parties, whether these products achieve widespread acceptance among
gamers, whether such products are readily available at affordable prices and whether additional memory, enhanced PSUs or cooling solutions, new
computer cases or other peripheral devices are necessary to support those products. Although we believe that, historically, new generations of highperformance GPUs and CPUs have positively affected the demand for our gear, there can be no assurance that this will be the case in the future. For
example, the introduction of a new generation of highly efficient GPUs and CPUs that require less power or that generate less heat than prior generations
may reduce the demand for both our power supply units and cooling solutions. In the past, semiconductor and computer hardware companies have typically
introduced new products annually, generally in the second calendar quarter, which has tended to drive our sales in the following two quarters. If computer
hardware companies do not continue to regularly introduce new and enhanced GPUs, CPUs and other products that place increasing demands on system
memory and processing speed, require larger power supply units or cooling solutions or that otherwise drive demand for computer cases and other
peripherals, or if gamers do not accept those products, our business may be seriously harmed.
We also believe that sales of our gear are driven by conditions in the computer gaming industry. In particular, we believe that our business depends on
the introduction and success of computer games with sophisticated graphics that place greater demands on system processing speed and capacity and
therefore require more powerful GPUs or CPUs, which in turn drives demand for our DRAM modules, PSUs, cooling systems and other components and
peripherals. Likewise, we believe that the continued introduction and market acceptance of new or enhanced versions of computer games helps sustain
consumer interest in computer gaming generally. The demand for our gear would likely decline, perhaps substantially, if computer game companies and
developers do not introduce and successfully market sophisticated new and improved games that require increasingly high levels of system and graphics
processing power on an ongoing basis or if demand for computer games among computer gaming enthusiasts or conditions in the computer gaming
industry deteriorate for any reason. As a result, our sales and other operating results fluctuate due to conditions in the market for computer games, and
downturns in this market may seriously harm our business.
We face intense competition, and if we do not compete effectively, we could lose market share, demand for our gear could decline and our business
may be seriously harmed.
We face intense competition in the markets for all of our gear. We operate in markets that are characterized by rapid technological change, constant
price pressure, rapid product obsolescence, evolving industry standards and new demands for features and performance. We experience aggressive price
competition and other promotional activities by competitors, including in response to declines in consumer demand and excess product supply or as
competitors seek to gain market share.
In addition, because of the continuing convergence of the markets for computing devices and consumer electronics, we expect greater competition in
the future from well-established consumer electronics companies. Many of our current and potential competitors, some of which are large, multi-national
businesses, have substantially greater financial, technical, sales, marketing, personnel and other resources and greater brand recognition than we have. Our
competitors may be in a stronger position to respond quickly to new technologies and may be able to design, develop, market and sell their products more
effectively than we can. In addition, some of our competitors are small or mid-sized specialty companies that can react to changes in industry trends or
consumer
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preferences or to introduce new or innovative products more quickly than we can. As a result, our product development efforts may not be successful or
result in market acceptance of our gear. Our primary competitors include:
Competitors in the gamer and creator peripherals market. Our primary competitors in the market for gaming keyboards and mice include Logitech
and Razer. Our primary competitors in the market for headset and related audio products include Logitech, Razer and HP through its HyperX brand. Our
primary competitors in the gamer and creator streaming gear market include Logitech, following its acquisition of Blue Microphones, and AVerMedia. Our
primary competitors in the performance controller market include Microsoft and Logitech.
Competitors in the gaming components and systems market. Our primary competitors in the market for PSUs, cooling solutions and computer cases
include Cooler Master, NZXT, EVGA, Seasonic and Thermaltake. Our primary competitors in the market for DRAM modules include G.Skill, Kingston
and Micron through its Crucial division. Our primary competitors in the market for prebuilt gaming PCs and laptops include Dell through its Alienware
brand, HP through its Omen brand, Asus and Razer. Our primary competitors in the market for custom-built gaming PCs and laptops include iBuypower
and Cyberpower.
Competitors in new markets. We are considering introducing new gear for gamers or streamers and content creators and, to the extent we introduce
gear in new categories, we will likely experience substantial competition from additional companies, including large computer gaming and streaming
peripherals and consumer electronics companies with global brand recognition and significantly greater resources than ours.
Our ability to compete successfully is fundamental to our success in existing and new markets. We believe that the principal competitive factors in our
markets include performance, reliability, brand and associated style and image, time to market with new emerging technologies, early identification of
emerging opportunities, interoperability of products and responsive customer support on a worldwide basis. If we do not compete effectively, demand for
our gear could decline, our net revenue and gross margin could decrease and we could lose market share, which may seriously harm our business.
Further, our ability to successfully compete depends in large part on our ability to compete on price for our high-performance gear. Much of the gear
we sell is priced higher than products offered by our competitors. If gamers or streamers are not willing to pay the higher price point for our gear, we will
either need to discount our gear or our sales volume could decrease. In either event, our business could be seriously harmed.
If gaming, including streaming and esports, does not grow as expected or declines our business could be seriously harmed.
Over the past two decades, gaming has grown from a relatively niche industry to a significant segment of the global entertainment industry with a
wide following across various demographic groups globally. This growth includes, and has been driven by, the rapid expansion of live game streaming by
content creators and the growing popularity of professional competitive gaming, also referred to as esports. However, the continued growth of the video
gaming industry will depend on numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including but not limited to:
•

the rate of growth of PCs and gaming consoles or the migration of gamers to mobile devices and tablets away from PCs, which historically have
been the core focus of our business;

•

the continued growth of streaming, including its popularity among fans and aspiring content creators and how it impacts their desire to purchase
high-performance gaming and streaming gear;

•

the continued growth of esports, including its increasing popularity among fans and amateur esports athletes and how it impacts their desire to
purchase high-performance gaming gear;

•

general economic conditions, particularly economic conditions adversely affecting discretionary consumer spending;

•

social perceptions of gaming, especially those related to the impact of gaming on health and social development;

•

the introduction of legislation or other regulatory restrictions on gaming, such as restrictions addressing violence in video games and addiction to
video games, also referred to as Gaming Disorder by the World Health Organization;

•

the relative availability and popularity of other forms of entertainment; and

•

changes in consumer demographics, tastes and preferences.

We generate a significant portion of our net revenue from gaming-related gear. As a result, any decline or slowdown in the growth of the gaming
industry or the declining popularity of the gaming industry could materially and adversely affect our business.
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We have no specific plans to attract gamers who use only mobile devices or tablets and we have no plans to develop gear specifically designed for
gamers who use mobile devices or tablets. As a result, if gamers migrate to mobile devices or tablets and away from PCs and consoles, our business may be
seriously harmed. In addition, there can be no assurance that the active demographics in gaming will continue to buy into and drive the growth in gamer
culture and the games industry overall nor can there be any assurance that gaming will expand into new demographics that will drive growth. Further, if
gamers’ interest in video games is diminished, this may seriously harm our business.
Our growth prospects are, to a certain extent, connected with the ongoing growth of live game streaming and esports and any reduction in the
growth or popularity of live game streaming or esports may seriously harm our business.
The success of our business depends on live game streaming and esports driving significant growth in the high-performance gaming and content
streaming market, which could prompt strong growth in the sales of our gear. However, there are a number of factors which could result in the esports or
live game streaming markets having limited or negative impact on our sales and overall growth. These factors include:
•

our competitors marketing products that gain broader acceptance among game streamers, esports participants and content creators;

•

esports amateurs and/or spectators not purchasing our gear that is utilized by esports athletes and teams or streamers and content creators,
including the esports athletes and teams, and streamers we sponsor;

•

the popularity of esports games that do not utilize any of our gear, for example games that run on mobile devices or tablets that replace more
traditional esports; and

•

our research and development and the gear we sell failing to satisfy the increasing high-performance requirements of competitive gamers or
streamers.

Further, there are a number of factors which could result in the growth in live game streaming or the esports markets stagnating, or even decreasing.
These factors include:
•

consumer interest in watching either live or streamed broadcasts of competitors playing video games diminishing or even disappearing;

•

regulations limiting the broadcast of live streaming or esports;

•

reduced accessibility of streaming and other gaming video content, whether due to platform fragmentation, the erection of paywalls, or
otherwise; and

•

economics or monetization of esports performing below expectations, ultimately causing a decrease in outside investments in esports.

If one or more of the above factors are realized, our business may be seriously harmed.
If we lose or are unable to attract and retain key management, our ability to compete could be seriously harmed and our financial performance
could suffer.
Our performance depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of our management team, particularly Andrew J. Paul, our co-founder, Chief
Executive Officer and Director. If we lose the services of one or more of our key executives, we may not be able to successfully manage our business, meet
competitive challenges or achieve our growth objectives. To the extent that our business grows, we will need to attract and retain additional qualified
management personnel in a timely manner, and we may not be able to do so.
We rely on highly skilled personnel and if we are unable to attract, retain or motivate key personnel or hire qualified personnel our business may
be seriously harmed.
Our performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals, particularly our marketing personnel, sales force,
electrical engineers, mechanical engineers and computer professionals. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to identify, hire, develop,
motivate and retain highly skilled personnel and, if we are unable to hire and train a sufficient number of qualified employees for any reason, we may not
be able to implement our current initiatives or grow, or our business may contract and we may lose market share. Moreover, certain of our competitors or
other technology businesses may seek to hire our employees. There can be no assurance that our stock-based and other compensation will provide adequate
incentives to
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attract, retain and motivate employees in the future, particularly if the market price of our common stock does not increase or declines. If we do not succeed
in attracting, retaining and motivating highly qualified personnel, our business may be seriously harmed. Further, we also face significant competition for
employees, particularly in the San Francisco Bay Area where our headquarters are located, and as a result, skilled employees in this competitive geographic
location can often command higher compensation and may be difficult to hire. In addition, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, poor relations between the United
States and Russia, and sanctions by the United States and the European Union against Russia could have an adverse impact on our research and
development efforts as we outsource significant research and development activities to companies in Ukraine.
Currency exchange rate fluctuations could result in our gear becoming relatively more expensive to our overseas customers or increase our
manufacturing costs, each of which may seriously harm our business.
Our international sales and our operations in foreign countries subject us to risks associated with fluctuating currency exchange rates. Because sales of
our gear is denominated primarily in U.S. dollars, an increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the currency used in the countries where our gear is
sold may result in an increase in the price of our gear in those countries, which may lead to a reduction in sales. Likewise, because we pay our suppliers and
third-party manufacturers, most of which are located outside of the United States, primarily in U.S. dollars, any decline in the value of the U.S. dollar
relative to the applicable local currency, such as the Chinese Renminbi or the New Taiwan dollar, may cause our suppliers and manufacturers to raise the
prices they charge us. In addition, we generally pay our employees located outside the United States in the local currency and, as a result of our foreign
sales and operations, we have other expenses, assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies and changes in the value of the U.S. dollar
could result in significant increases in our expenses that may seriously harm our business.
Total unit shipments of our gear have historically been higher during the third and fourth quarters of the year. As a result, our sales may be
subject to seasonal fluctuations, which may seriously harm our business.
Since 2020, our revenue seasonality has been impacted positively and negatively, and thus has not followed historic patterns, by external events, such
as shelter-in-place restrictions, global supply chain and logistics issues and availability of affordable GPUs, primarily caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Historically, prior to 2020, we have experienced and expect to continue to experience seasonal fluctuations in sales due to the spending patterns of gamers
who purchase our gear. Our total unit shipments have generally been lowest in the first and second calendar quarters due to lower sales following the fourth
quarter holiday season and because of the decline in sales that typically occurs in anticipation of the introduction of new or enhanced GPUs, CPUs and
other computer hardware products, which usually takes place in the second calendar quarter, and which tends to drive sales in the following two quarters.
As a consequence of seasonality, our total unit shipments for the second calendar quarter are generally the lowest of the year, followed by total unit
shipments for the first calendar quarter. As a result, our total unit shipments are subject to seasonal fluctuations, which may seriously harm our business.
Historical seasonal patterns may not continue in the future and have been impacted, and may be further impacted in the future, by increasing supply
constraints, GPU shortages, shifts in customer behavior and the evolving impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Our results of operations are subject to substantial quarterly and annual fluctuations, which may adversely affect the market price of our common
stock.
Our results of operations have in the past fluctuated, sometimes substantially, from period to period, and we expect that these fluctuations will
continue. A number of factors, many of which are outside our control, may cause or contribute to significant fluctuations in our quarterly and annual net
revenue and other operating results. These fluctuations may make financial planning and forecasting more difficult. In addition, these fluctuations may
result in unanticipated decreases in our available cash, which could negatively impact our business. These fluctuations also could both increase the
volatility and adversely affect the market price of our common stock. There are numerous factors that may cause or contribute to fluctuations in our
operating results. As discussed below, these factors may relate directly to our business or may relate to technological developments and economic
conditions generally.
Factors affecting our business and markets. Our result of operations may be materially adversely affected by factors that directly affect our business
and the competitive conditions in our markets, including the following:
•

changes in demand for our lower margin products relative to demand for our higher margin gear;

•

introduction or enhancement of products by us and our competitors, and market acceptance of these new or enhanced products;

•

loss of significant retail customers, cancellations or reductions of orders and product returns;

•

fluctuations in average selling prices of and demand for our gear;
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•

change in demand for our gear due to our gear having higher price-points than products supplied by our competitors;

•

discounts and price reductions offered by our competitors;

•

a delay, reduction or cessation of deliveries from one or more of the third parties that manufacture our gear;

•

increased costs or shortages of our gear or components used in our gear;

•

changes in the frequency with which new high-performance computer hardware, particularly GPUs and CPUs, and sophisticated new computer
games that drive demand for additional DRAM modules, higher wattage PSUs, enhanced cooling solutions and peripherals are introduced;

•

fluctuations in the available supply of high-performance computer hardware resulting in the increased costs to gamers, which could ultimately
lead to decreased demand for our gaming gear, due to factors such as component supply shortages or gamers purchasing GPUs for nongaming purposes such as cryptocurrency mining;

•

the war between Russia and the Ukraine resulting in shipments of resources from these countries being delayed, or even ceasing, which could
cause the GPU shortage to last longer as the production of GPUs requires resources that come from these countries such as highly purified neon
gas and palladium, of which Ukraine and Russia, respectively, are the world’s leading exporters;

•

potential changes in trade relations or the implementation of export sanctions, in particular any sanctions between the United States and China;

•

unexpected changes in laws, including tax and trade laws, and regulatory requirements;

•

delays or problems in our introduction of new gear;

•

delays or problems in the shipment or delivery of gear to customers;

•

changes in freight costs;

•

changes in purchasing patterns by the distributors and retailers to which we sell our gear;

•

seasonal electronics product purchasing patterns by our retail and distributor customers, as well as the gamers and streamers that purchase their
gear directly from us;

•

competitive pressures resulting in, among other things, lower selling prices or loss of market share; and

•

cost and adverse outcomes of litigation, governmental proceedings or any proceedings to protect our brand or other intellectual property.

General economic conditions. Our business may be materially adversely affected by factors relating to global, national and regional economies,
including:
•

uncertainty in economic conditions, either globally or in specific countries or regions;

•

fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

•

outbreaks of pandemics, such as the novel coronavirus;

•

the impact of political instability, natural disasters, war and/or events of terrorism, such as the war between Russia and Ukraine, and the
corresponding tensions created from such conflict between Russia, the United States and countries in Europe as well as other countries such as
China;

•

macro-economic fluctuations in the United States and global economies, including those that impact discretionary consumer spending such as
may result from the COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak, increased interest rates or increased inflation;

•

changes in business cycles that affect the markets in which we sell our gear; and

•

the effect of fluctuations in interest rates on consumer disposable income.

Technological factors. In addition to technological developments directly relating to our gear, more generalized changes in technology may have a
significant effect on our operating results. For example, our business could be seriously harmed by rapid, wholesale changes in technology in or affecting
the markets in which we compete or widespread adoption of cloud computing.
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One or more of the foregoing or other factors may cause our expenses to be disproportionately higher or lower or may cause our net revenue and other
operating results to fluctuate significantly in any particular quarterly or annual period. Our results of operations in one or more future quarters or years may
fail to meet the expectations of investment research analysts or investors, which could cause an immediate and significant decline in the market price of our
common stock.
Cloud computing may seriously harm our business.
Cloud computing refers to a computing environment in which software is run on third-party servers and accessed by end-users over the internet. In a
cloud computing environment a user’s computer may be a so-called “dumb terminal” with minimal processing power and limited need for highperformance components. Through cloud computing, gamers will be able to access and play graphically sophisticated games that they may not be able to
otherwise play on a PC that is not fully equipped with the necessary, and often expensive, hardware. If cloud computing is widely accepted, the demand for
high-performance computer gaming hardware products such as the PC high-performance memory, prebuilt and custom gaming PCs and laptops, and other
PC gaming components we sell, could diminish significantly. As a result, if cloud computing gaming were to become widely adopted, such adoption could
seriously harm our business.
Conditions in the retail and consumer electronics markets may significantly affect our business and could have an adverse effect on our net
revenue.
We derive most of our revenue from higher priced gear sold through online and brick-and-mortar retailers to gamers, and we are vulnerable to
declines in consumer spending due to, among other things, depressed economic conditions, reductions in disposable income and other factors that affect the
retail and consumer electronics markets generally. In addition, our revenues are attributable to sales of high-performance gamer and creator peripherals and
gaming components and systems, all of which are products that are geared to the computer gaming market which, like other consumer electronic markets,
is susceptible to the adverse effects of poor economic conditions.
Other significant negative effects could include limited growth or reductions in worldwide sales of products that incorporate DRAM modules, such as
PCs, smartphones and servers, resulting in excess supply in the worldwide DRAM market and reduced demand for our gear from our customers as they
limit or lower their spending and inventory levels. Adverse economic conditions may also reduce our cash flow due to delays in customer payments,
increase the risk of customer bankruptcy or business failures and result in increases in bad debt write-offs and receivables reserves.
Other negative effects on our business resulting from adverse economic conditions worldwide may include:
•

higher costs for promotions, customer incentive programs and other initiatives used to stimulate demand;

•

constraints on consumer spending caused by higher inflation, leading to weaker consumer demand for our products;

•

increased risk of excess and obsolete inventories, which may require write-downs or impairment charges;

•

financial distress or bankruptcy of key suppliers or third-party manufacturers, resulting in insufficient product quantities to meet demand or
increases in the cost of producing our gear; and

•

financial distress or bankruptcy of key distributors, resellers or retailers.

Depressed economic conditions, whether in our key regional markets or globally, could result in a decline in both product prices and the demand for
our gear, which may seriously harm our business.
Our sponsorship of individuals, teams and events within the gaming community is subject to numerous risks that may seriously harm our
business.
We interact with the gaming community in numerous ways, including through the sponsorship of streamers, esports events, tournaments, esports
athletes and teams. These sponsored events and individuals are associated with our brand and represent our commitment to the gaming community. There
can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our existing relationships with any of our sponsored individuals or teams in the future or that we will
be able to attract new highly visible gamers to endorse our gear. Additionally, certain individuals or teams with greater access to capital may increase the
cost of certain sponsorships to levels we may choose not to match. If this were to occur, our sponsored individuals, teams or events may terminate their
relationships with us and endorse our competitors’ products, and we may be unable to obtain endorsements from other comparable alternatives. In addition,
if any of our sponsored individuals or teams become unpopular or engage in activities perceived negatively in the gaming community or
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more broadly, our sponsorship expenditures could be wasted and our brand reputation could be damaged which, in turn, could seriously harm our business.
DRAM integrated circuits account for most of the cost of producing our DRAM modules and fluctuations in the market price of DRAM integrated
circuits may have a material impact on our net revenue and gross profit.
DRAM integrated circuits, or ICs, account for most of the cost of producing our DRAM modules. The market for these ICs is highly competitive and
cyclical. Prices of DRAM ICs have historically been subject to volatility over relatively short periods of time due to a number of factors, including
imbalances in supply and demand. We expect these fluctuations will recur in the future, which could seriously harm our business. For example, changes in
the selling prices of our DRAM modules can have a substantial impact on our net revenue as our performance memory products represents a significant
portion of our overall net revenue. In addition, declines in the market price of ICs enable our competitors to lower prices and we will likely be forced to
lower our product prices in order to compete effectively which could have an adverse effect on our net revenue. Further, because we carry inventory of
DRAM ICs and DRAM modules at our facility in Taiwan, fluctuations in the market price of these ICs can have an effect on our gross margin. For
example, declines in the prices of these ICs and their related products have tended to have a negative short-term impact on gross margin of our DRAM
modules. In addition, selling prices of our DRAM modules, on the one hand, and market prices of DRAM ICs, on the other hand, may rise or fall at
different rates, which may also affect our gross margin. Any of these circumstances could materially adversely affect our net revenue and gross margins.
We use DRAM ICs produced by Samsung, Micron and Hynix in our DRAM modules. We purchase those DRAM ICs, pursuant to purchase orders
and not long-term supply contracts, largely from third-party distributors and, to a lesser extent, directly from those manufacturers. According to the most
recent external market share data for the year ended December 31, 2021, Samsung, a manufacturer of DRAM ICs, had an approximately 43% share of the
worldwide DRAM IC market, compared to approximately 28% for Hynix and approximately 23% for Micron in each case for the same period. However,
should supply from any of these vendors be limited, there can be no assurance that we would be able to meet our needs by purchasing DRAM ICs produced
by other manufacturers or from agents and distributors. Further, there are a limited number of companies capable of producing the high-speed DRAM ICs
required for our high-performance DRAM modules, and any inability to procure the requisite quantities and quality of DRAM ICs could reduce our
production of DRAM modules and could seriously harm our business.
The coronavirus outbreak has had, and could continue to have, a materially disruptive effect on our business.
The COVID-19 disease has spread globally and has resulted in authorities implementing numerous measures to try to contain the virus, such as travel
bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders and shutdowns. For example, starting in mid-March 2020, the governor of California, where our
headquarters are located, issued shelter-in-place orders restricting non-essential activities, travel and business operations for an indefinite period of time,
subject to certain exceptions for necessary activities. Such orders or restrictions have resulted in our headquarters closing, work stoppages, slowdowns and
delays, travel restrictions and cancellation of events, among other effects, thereby negatively impacting our operations.
The spread of COVID-19 has and could continue to seriously harm our business. Current and potential impacts include, but are not limited to, the
following:
•

the extended closures in early February 2020 and slow ramp up of capacity of many factories in China and other countries in Asia where many
of our products and the components and subcomponents used in the manufacture of our gear created, and could continue to create, supply chain
disruptions for our gear;

•

supply and transportation costs have increased, and may continue to increase, as alternate suppliers are sought;

•

labor shortages within delivery and other industries due to extended worker absences could create further supply chain disruptions;

•

extended employee absences could negatively impact our business, including potential reductions in the availability of the sales team to complete
sales and delays in deliverables and timelines within our engineering and support functions;

•

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could make our products less competitive in a price-sensitive environment for our non-US customers; and

•

significant disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity,
including our ability to repay the indebtedness outstanding from our credit facilities.
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Since early 2020, we have experienced an increase in demand for our gear as more people were under shelter-in-place restrictions, which we believe
have limited people’s access to alternative forms of entertainment and social interaction, and thus have increased the demand for home entertainment and
connecting with others through content creation. In contrast, as the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, it has resulted in shelter-in-place and other similar
restrictions being eased, starting earlier 2021. Such easing of restrictions has resulted in consumers returning to other alternative forms of entertainment and
interaction. This in turn has resulted in a decline in demand for our products since the second half of 2021. In addition, we have, and continue to,
experience disruption in our supply chain and increased distribution costs, which led to increases in operating costs such as the significantly elevated ocean
freight costs since the second half of 2021.
The extent to which the COVID-19 outbreak, including the spread of more contagious and deadly variants, ultimately impacts our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including, but not
limited to, the duration and spread of the outbreak, its severity, the actions to contain the virus or treat its impact, and how quickly and to what extent
normal economic and operating conditions can resume. Even after the COVID-19 outbreak has subsided, we may continue to experience significant
impacts to our business as a result of its global economic impact, including any economic downturn or recession that has occurred or may occur in the
future.
The ongoing military action between Russia and Ukraine could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In February 2022, Russian military forces invaded Ukraine. In response, Ukrainian military personnel and civilians are actively resisting the invasion.
Although the length, impact and outcome of the ongoing military conflict in Ukraine is highly unpredictable, this conflict could lead to significant market
and other disruptions, including significant volatility in commodity prices and supply of energy resources, instability in financial markets, supply chain
interruptions, political and social instability, changes in consumer or purchaser preferences as well as increase in cyberattacks and espionage.
Russia's recognition of two separatist republics in the Donetsk and Luhansk regions of Ukraine and subsequent military action against Ukraine have
led to an unprecedented expansion of sanction programs imposed by the United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom, Canada, Switzerland,
Japan and other countries against Russia, Belarus, the Crimea Region of Ukraine, the so-called Donetsk People's Republic and the so-called Luhansk
People's Republic. The situation is rapidly evolving as a result of the conflict in Ukraine, and the United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom
and other countries may implement additional sanctions, export controls or other measures against Russia, Belarus and other countries, regions, officials,
individuals or industries in the respective territories. In response to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and the aforementioned sanctions, we ceased the sale of all
of our gear in Russia with immediate effect. While we do not expect this decision to have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or
financial condition, such sanctions and other measures, as well as the existing and potential further responses from Russia or other countries to such
sanctions, tensions and military actions, could adversely affect the global economy and financial markets and could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
In addition, the conflict and sanctions against Russia could negatively impact the production and sales of consumer electronics due to a variety of
factors such as lower consumer confidence, increase the ongoing disruption of supply chains, worsen the current semiconductor chip shortage since Russia
and Ukraine are critical suppliers of neon gas and palladium used in chip production, exacerbate energy shortages and high energy prices, and increase
cybersecurity threats. These impacts could have a material adverse effect on our operations, sales and profitability.
We are actively monitoring the situation in Ukraine and assessing its impact on our business, including our suppliers and customers. We have no way
to predict the progress or outcome of the conflict in Ukraine or its impacts in Ukraine, Russia or Belarus as the conflict, and any resulting government
reactions, are rapidly developing and beyond our control. The extent and duration of the military action, sanctions and resulting market disruptions could be
significant and could potentially have substantial impact on the global economy and our business for an unknown period of time. Any of the
abovementioned factors could affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any such disruptions may also magnify the impact of other
risks described in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
A significant portion of our net revenue is generated by sales of DRAM modules and any significant decrease in the average selling prices of our
DRAM modules would seriously harm our business.
A significant percentage of our net revenue is generated by sales of DRAM modules. In particular, net revenue generated by sales of DRAM modules
accounted for a total of 32.0% and 27.7% of our net revenue in the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As a result, any significant
decrease in average selling prices of our DRAM modules, whether as a result of declining market prices of DRAM ICs or for any other reason, would
seriously harm our business. Selling prices for our DRAM modules tend to increase or decrease with increases or decreases, respectively, in market prices
of DRAM ICs.
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Sales to a limited number of customers represent a significant portion of our net revenue, and the loss of one or more of our key customers may
seriously harm our business.
In the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, sales to Amazon accounted for 30.4% and 24.6% of our net revenue, respectively. Sales to our
ten largest customers accounted for 52.5% and 49.3% of the same periods, respectively, of our net revenue. Our customers typically do not enter into longterm agreements to purchase our gear but instead enter into purchase orders with us from time to time. These purchase orders may generally be cancelled
and orders can be reduced or postponed by the customer. In addition, our customers are under no obligation to continue purchasing from us and may
purchase similar products from our competitors, and some of our customer agreements contain “most favored nation” clauses. Further, while we maintain
accounts receivables insurance for many of our customers, we do not maintain such coverage for Amazon and others. As a result, if either Amazon or
others were to default on its payment to us, we would not be covered by such insurance, and our business may be seriously harmed. If the financial
condition of a key customer weakens, if a key customer stops purchasing our gear, or if uncertainty regarding demand for our gear causes a key customer to
reduce their orders and marketing of our gear, our business could be seriously harmed. A decision by one or more of our key customers to reduce, delay or
cancel its orders from us, either as a result of industry conditions or specific events relating to a particular customer or failure or inability to pay amounts
owed to us in a timely manner, or at all, may seriously harm our business. In addition, because of our reliance on key customers, the loss of one or more
key customers as a result of bankruptcy or liquidation or otherwise, and the resulting loss of sales, may seriously harm our business. Additionally, some of
our customer agreements contain “most favored nation” clauses.
We have limited manufacturing facilities that only assemble our DRAM modules, custom built PCs, custom cooling and controllers, we have no
guaranteed sources of supply of products or components and we depend upon a small number of manufacturers, some of which are exclusive or
single-source suppliers, to supply our gear, each of which may result in product or component shortages, delayed deliveries and quality control
problems.
We maintain limited manufacturing facilities that only assemble certain products such as our DRAM modules, custom built PCs, custom cooling and
performance controllers, and as a result, we depend entirely upon third parties to manufacture and supply the gear we sell and the components used in our
gear such as gaming peripherals and gaming components. Our gear that is manufactured by outsourced parties is generally produced by a limited number of
manufacturers and in some instances is purchased on a purchase order basis. For example, each model of our gaming keyboards, gaming mice, gaming
headsets, computer cases, PSUs and cooling solutions is produced by a single manufacturer. We do not have long-term supply agreements with most of our
manufacturers and suppliers. In addition, we carry limited inventory of our gear, and the loss of one or more of these manufacturers or suppliers, or a
significant decline in production or deliveries by any of them, could significantly limit our shipments of gear or prevent us from shipping that gear entirely.
Our reliance upon a limited number of manufacturers and suppliers exposes us to numerous risks, including those described below.
Risks relating to production and manufacturing. Our business could be seriously harmed if our manufacturers or suppliers ceased or reduced
production or deliveries, raised prices, lengthened production or delivery times or changed other terms of sale. In particular, price increases by our
manufacturers or suppliers could seriously harm our business if we are unable to pass those price increases along to our customers. Further, the supply of
products from manufacturers and suppliers to us could be interrupted or delayed, and we may be unable to obtain sufficient quantities of our products
because of factors outside of our control. For example, our manufacturers and suppliers may experience financial difficulties, be affected by natural
disasters or pandemics, have limited production facilities or manufacturing capacity, may experience labor shortages or may be adversely affected by
regional unrest or military actions, such as the war between Russia and Ukraine. In addition, we may be slower than our competitors in introducing new
products or reacting to changes in our markets due to production or delivery delays by our third-party manufacturers or suppliers. Likewise, lead times for
the delivery of products being manufactured for us can vary significantly and depend on many factors outside of our control, such as demand for
manufacturing capacity and availability of components. In addition, if one of our exclusive or single-source manufacturers were to stop production, or
experience product quality or shortage issues, we may be unable to locate or engage a suitable replacement on terms we consider acceptable and, in any
event, there would likely be significant delays before we were able to transition production to a new manufacturer and potentially significant costs
associated with that transition.
Risks relating to product quality. Our manufacturers or suppliers may provide us with products or components that do not perform reliably or do not
meet our quality standards or performance specifications or are susceptible to early failure or contain other defects. This may seriously harm our reputation,
increase our warranty and other costs or lead to product returns or recalls, any of which may seriously harm our business.
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Risks relating to product and component shortages. From time to time we have experienced product shortages due to both disruptions in supply from
the third parties that manufacture or supply our gear and our inability or the inability of these third-party manufacturers to obtain necessary components,
and we may experience similar shortages in the future. Moreover, procurement of the other components used in our gear is generally the responsibility of
the third parties that manufacture our gear, and we therefore have limited or no ability to control or influence the procurement process or to monitor the
quality of components.
Any disruption in or termination of our relationships with any of our manufacturers or suppliers or our inability to develop relationships with new
manufacturers or suppliers as and when required would cause delays, disruptions or reductions in product shipment and may require product redesigns, all
of which could damage relationships with our customers, seriously harm our brand, increase our costs and otherwise seriously harm our business. Likewise,
shortages or interruptions in the supply of products or components, or any inability to procure these products or components from alternate sources at
acceptable prices in a timely manner, could delay shipments to our customers and increase our costs, any of which may seriously harm our business.
If our proprietary iCUE software or Elgato streaming software suite have any “bugs” or glitches, or if we are unable to update the iCUE software
or Elgato streaming software suite to incorporate innovations, our business may be seriously harmed.
Because most of the gear we sell is linked through either our iCUE software or our Elgato streaming software suite, “bugs” or other glitches in the
software may cause it to not perform reliably, meet our quality standards or meet performance specifications. Further, even if we detect any bugs or other
glitches in the iCUE software or our Elgato streaming software suite we may be unable to update the affected software effectively to remediate these
problems. In addition, in order for us to stay competitive, we need to update the iCUE software, Elgato streaming software suite and any other software
utilized by our gear, to incorporate innovations and other changes to address gamers and content creators’ changing needs. If we are unable to update the
iCUE software or our Elgato streaming software suite to include such updates or address any bugs or glitches, its use to gamers and content creators may be
substantially diminished, which could seriously harm our business.
The need to continuously develop new gear and product improvements increases the risk that our gear will contain defects or fail to meet
specifications, which may increase our warranty costs and product returns, lead to recalls of gear, damage our reputation and seriously harm our
business.
Gear that does not meet specifications or that contains, or is perceived by our customers or gamers to contain, defects could impose significant costs
on us or seriously harm our business. Our gear may suffer from design flaws, quality control problems in the manufacturing process or components that are
defective or do not meet our quality standards. Moreover, the markets we serve are characterized by rapidly changing technology and intense competition
and the pressure to continuously develop new gear and improvements and bring that gear and improvements to market quickly heightens the risks that our
gear will be subject to both quality control and design problems. Because we largely rely on third parties to manufacture our gear and the components that
are used in our gear, our ability to control the quality of the manufacturing process and the components that are used to manufacture our gear is limited.
Product quality issues, whether as a result of design or manufacturing flaws or the use of components that are not of the requisite quality or do not meet our
specifications, could result in product recalls, product redesign efforts, lost revenue, loss of reputation, and significant warranty and other expenses. In that
regard, we have previously voluntarily recalled the SF-series PSUs. Recalls of gear and warranty-related issues can be costly, cause damage to our
reputation and result in increased expenses, lost revenue and production delays. We may also be required to compensate customers for costs incurred or
damages caused by defective gear. If we incur warranty or product redesign costs, institute recalls of gear or suffer damage to our reputation as a result of
defective gear, our business could be seriously harmed.
While we operate a facility in Taiwan that assembles, tests and packages all of our DRAM modules and certain other products, we rely upon
manufacturers in China and Southeast Asia to produce a significant portion of our other products, which exposes us to risks that may seriously
harm our business.
We operate a facility in Taiwan that assembles, tests, packages and ultimately supplies all of our DRAM modules and a significant portion of our
cooling solutions, prebuilt and custom gaming systems and custom gaming controllers. We also assemble, test, package and ultimately supply our custombuilt PCs in our U.S. facility, and our customized gaming controllers in our U.S. and U.K. facilities. All of the other gear we sell, including the components
used to assemble our DRAM modules, are produced at factories operated by third parties located in China, Taiwan and countries in Southeast Asia. The
fact that all of these facilities, manufacturers, suppliers and factories are concentrated in China, Taiwan and countries in Southeast Asia exposes us to
numerous risks.
We believe one of the most significant risks associated with this concentration is that production may be interrupted or limited because of labor
shortages in southern China and by strains on the local infrastructure. In addition, production at facilities located in
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China, Taiwan or Southeast Asia, including our own manufacturing, testing and packaging facility in Taiwan, and deliveries from those facilities, may be
adversely affected by tensions, hostilities or trade disputes involving China, Taiwan, the United States or other countries. There is considerable potential
political instability in Taiwan related to its disputes with China. In addition, political instability in countries in Southeast Asia where we source certain
components, such as Thailand, could result in delays in shipments or our inability to source certain critical components for our products. Although we do
not do business in North Korea, any future increase in tensions between South Korea and North Korea, such as an outbreak or escalation of military
hostilities, or between Taiwan and China could materially adversely affect our operations in Asia or the global economy, which in turn may seriously harm
our business.
Other risks resulting from this concentration of our manufacturing facilities and our suppliers in China, Taiwan and Southeast Asia include the
following:
•

the interpretation and enforcement of China’s laws continues to evolve, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain a reliable supply of our
gear at predictable costs;

•

these facilities are located in regions that may be affected by earthquakes, typhoons, other natural disasters, pandemic outbreaks, political
instability, military actions, power outages or other conditions that may cause a disruption in supply;

•

our costs may be increased and deliveries of our gear may be decreased or delayed by trade restrictions; and

•

our reliance on foreign manufacturers and suppliers exposes us to other risks of doing business internationally, some of which are described
below under “We conduct our operations and sell our gear internationally and the effect of business, legal and political risks associated with
international operations may seriously harm our business.”

In addition, if significant tariffs or other restrictions are placed on Chinese imports or any related counter-measures are taken by China, our business
may be seriously harmed if such tariffs or counter-measures affect the manufacturing costs of any of our gear. Further, such tariffs could adversely impact
our gross profits if we cannot pass the increased costs incurred as a result of these tariffs through to our consumers, or if the resulting increased prices result
in a decrease in consumer demand.
The occurrence of any one or more of these risks may seriously harm our business.
If we do not successfully coordinate the worldwide manufacturing and distribution of our gear, we could lose sales.
Our business requires that we coordinate the manufacturing and distribution of our gear over a significant portion of the world. We rely upon third
parties to manufacture our gear and to transport and distribute our gear to our customers. If we do not successfully coordinate the timely and efficient
manufacturing and distribution of our gear, our costs may increase, we may experience a build-up in inventory, we may not be able to deliver sufficient
quantities to meet customer demand and we could lose sales, each of which could seriously harm our business.
Our operating results are particularly sensitive to freight costs, and our costs may increase significantly if we are unable to ship and transport
finished products efficiently and economically across long distances and international borders, which may seriously harm our business.
The majority of our gear is manufactured in Asia, and we transport significant volumes of finished products across long distances and international
borders. As a result, our operating results can be significantly affected by changes in transportation costs. In that regard, although we ship our DRAM
modules, which have selling prices that are relatively high compared to their size and weight, by air, we generally use ocean freight to ship our other
products because of their relatively low selling prices compared to their size and weight. If we underestimate the demand for any of the products we ship by
ocean freight, or if deliveries of those products to us by our manufacturers are delayed or interrupted, we may be required to ship those products by air in
order to fill orders on a timely basis. Shipping larger or heavier items, such as cases or PSUs, by air is significantly more expensive than using ocean
freight. As a result, any requirement that we ship these products by air, whether because we underestimate demand or because of an interruption in supply
from the manufacturers who produce these products or for any other reason, could materially increase our costs. In addition, freight rates can vary
significantly due to large number of factors beyond our control, including changes in fuel prices or general economic conditions or the threat of terrorist
activities or acts of piracy. If demand for air or ocean freight should increase substantially, it could make it difficult for us to procure sufficient cargo
transportation space at prices we consider acceptable, or at all. Increases in our freight expenses, or any inability to ship our gear as and when required, may
seriously harm our business.
Because our gear must cross international borders, we are subject to risk of delay if our documentation does not comply with customs rules and
regulations or for similar reasons. In addition, any increases in customs duties or tariffs, as a result of changes to
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existing trade agreements between countries or otherwise, could increase our costs or the final cost of our gear to our retailer customers or gamers or
decrease our margins. The laws governing customs and tariffs in many countries are complex, subject to many interpretations and often include substantial
penalties for non-compliance.
Our effective tax rate may increase in the future, including as a result of tax legislation changes, which may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our effective tax rate may be impacted by changes in or interpretations of tax laws in any given jurisdiction, utilization of or limitations on our ability
to utilize any tax credit carry-forwards, changes in geographical allocation of revenue and expense and changes in management’s assessment of matters
such as our ability to realize the value of deferred tax assets.
In particular, the U.S. government may enact significant changes to the taxation of business entities including, among others, an increase in the
corporate income tax rate, the imposition of minimum taxes or surtaxes on certain types of income, significant changes to the taxation of income derived
from international operations, and an addition of further limitations on the deductibility of business interest. While certain draft legislation has been
publicly released and is under development in Congress at this time, the likelihood of these changes being enacted or implemented is unclear.
Our effective tax rate could also increase due to several factors, including:
•

changes in the relative amounts of income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have differing statutory tax rates;

•

changes in tax rates, tax treaties, and regulations or the interpretation of them;

•

changes to our assessment about our ability to realize our deferred tax assets that are based on estimates of our future results, the prudence and
feasibility of possible tax planning strategies, and the economic and political environments in which we do business;

•

the outcome of current and future tax audits, examinations, or administrative appeals; and

•

the effects of acquisitions.

In the past, we have experienced fluctuations in our effective income tax rate which reflects a variety of factors that may or may not be present in any
given year. In light of these factors, there can be no assurance that our effective income tax rate will not change in future periods. Accordingly, if our
effective tax rate were to increase, it may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our ability to utilize our net operating losses, or NOLs, carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
Our ability to utilize our NOL carryforwards to offset potential future taxable income and related income taxes that would otherwise be due is
dependent upon our generation of future taxable income before the expiration dates of the NOL carryforwards, and we cannot predict with certainty when,
or whether, we will generate sufficient taxable income to use all of our NOL carryforwards.
Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,”
generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in its equity ownership by certain stockholders over a three-year period, the
corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOL carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes (such as research and development tax credits) to offset
its post-change income or taxes may be limited. We have experienced ownership changes in the past, and we may experience ownership changes in the
future and/or subsequent shifts in our stock ownership (some of which may be outside our control). As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our ability to
use our pre-change NOL carryforwards to offset U.S. federal taxable income may be subject to limitations under Section 382, which could potentially
result in increased future tax liability to us. In addition, at the state level, there may be periods during which the use of NOL carryforwards is suspended or
otherwise limited, which could accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed.
Technological developments or other changes in our industry could render our gear less competitive or obsolete, which may seriously harm our
business.
Our industry is characterized by rapidly evolving technology and standards. These technological developments require us to integrate new technology
and standards into our gear, create new and relevant categories of gear and adapt to changing business models in a timely manner. Our competitors may
develop or acquire alternative and competing technologies and standards that could allow them to create new and disruptive products or produce similar
competitive products at lower costs of production. Advances in
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the development of gaming, computing and audiovisual technology could render our gear less competitive or obsolete. For example, the emergence of
augmented reality and virtual reality headsets could render certain of our gamer and creator peripherals such as keyboards and mice less relevant, similar to
how cloud computing could drastically reduce the need for gaming components and systems. If we are unable to provide new gear for augmented or virtual
reality devices or to address other technological trends, our business may be seriously harmed. In addition, government authorities and industry
organizations may adopt new standards that apply to our gear. As a result, we may need to invest significant resources in research and development to
maintain our market position, keep pace with technological changes and compete effectively. Our product development expenses were $17.1 million and
$15.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, representing 4.5% and 2.9% of our net revenue for these periods,
respectively. Our failure to improve our gear, create new and relevant categories of gear and adapt to changing business models in a timely manner may
seriously harm our business.
In addition, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, poor relations between the United States and Russia, and sanctions by the United States and the European
Union against Russia could have an adverse impact on our research and development efforts as we outsource significant research and development
activities to companies in Ukraine.
We order most of our gear from third-party manufacturers based on our forecasts of future demand and targeted inventory levels, which exposes
us to the risk of both product shortages, which may result in lost sales and higher expenses, and excess inventory, which may require us to sell our
gear at substantial discounts and lead to write-offs.
We depend upon our product forecasts to make decisions regarding investments of our resources and production levels of our gear. Because of the
lead time necessary to manufacture our gear and the fact that we usually have little or no advance notice of customer orders, we must order our gear from
third-party manufacturers and therefore commit to substantial purchases prior to obtaining orders for those products from our customers. This makes it
difficult for us to adjust our inventory levels if orders fall below our expectations. Our failure to predict low demand for product can result in excess
inventory, as well as lower cash flows and lower margins if we were unable to sell a product or if we were required to lower product prices in order to
reduce inventories, and may also result in inventory write-downs. In addition, the cancellation or reduction of orders by our customers may also result in
excess inventory. On the other hand, if actual orders exceed our expectations, we may need to incur additional costs, such as higher shipping costs for air
freight or other expedited delivery or higher product costs for expedited manufacturing, in order to deliver sufficient quantities of products to meet
customer orders on a timely basis or we may be unable to fill some orders altogether. In addition, many of the types of gear we sell have short product life
cycles, so a failure to accurately predict and meet demand for products can result in lost sales that we may be unable to recover in subsequent periods.
These short life cycles also make it more likely that slow moving or excess inventory may become obsolete, requiring us to sell our gear at significant
discounts or write off entirely excess or obsolete inventory. Any failure to deliver gear in quantities sufficient to satisfy demand can also seriously harm our
reputation with both our retailer customers and end-consumers.
Over the past few years, we have expanded the number and type of gear we sell, and the geographic markets in which we sell them, and we will
endeavor to further expand our product portfolio and sales reach. The growth of our product portfolio and the markets in which we sell our gear has
increased the difficulty of accurately forecasting product demand. We have in the past experienced significant differences between our forecasts and actual
demand for our gear and expect similar differences in the future. If we do not accurately predict product demand, our business may be seriously harmed.
Order cancellations, product returns, price erosion, product obsolescence and retailer and distributor customer and gamer incentive programs
may result in substantial inventory and/or receivables write-downs and seriously harm our business.
The gear we sell is characterized by rapid technological change and short product life cycles. As a result, the gear that we hold in inventory may be
subject to significant price erosion or may become obsolete, requiring inventory write-downs. We may experience excess or unsold inventory for a number
of reasons, including demand for our gear being lower than our forecasts, order cancellations by our customers and product returns.
In that regard, rights to return products vary by customer and range from the right to return defective products to limited stock rotation rights allowing
the exchange of a limited percentage of the customer’s inventory for new product purchases. If the estimated market values of products held in our finished
goods and work in process inventories at the end of any fiscal quarter are below our cost of these products, we will recognize charges to write down the
carrying value of our inventories to market value.
In addition, we provide a variety of rebates to both customers and gamers, including instant rebates, volume incentive rebates, back end rebates
and mail-in rebates. We also have contractual agreements and cooperative marketing, promotional and other arrangements that provide rebates and other
financial incentives to our retailer customers and gamers. To a limited extent, we also offer financial incentives related to retailer customer inventory of
specific products. The aggregate amount of charges incurred as a
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result of all of these rebates and other financial incentives is offset from our gross revenue. For the three months ended 2022 and 2021, our gross revenue
was reduced approximately by 9.9% and 6.7%, respectively, as a result of these rebates. In the future, we also may be required to write down inventory or
receivables due to product obsolescence or because of declines in market prices of our gear. Any write-downs or offsets could seriously harm our business.
Our indemnification obligations to our customers and suppliers for intellectual property infringement claims could require us to pay substantial
amounts and may seriously harm our business.
We indemnify a limited number of retailer customers for damages and costs which may arise if our gear infringe third-party patents or other
proprietary rights. We may periodically have to respond to claims and litigate these types of indemnification obligations. Any such indemnification claims
could require us to make substantial settlement, damages or royalty payments or result in our incurring substantial legal costs. Our insurance does not cover
intellectual property infringement. The potential amount of future payments to defend lawsuits or settle or otherwise satisfy indemnified claims under any
of these indemnification provisions may be unlimited. We also have replacement obligations for product warranty claims relating to our gear. Our insurance
does not cover such claims. Claims for intellectual property infringement and product warranty claims may seriously harm our business.
From time to time, we pay licensing fees in settlement of certain intellectual property infringement claims made by third parties. There can be no
assurance that licensing fees paid under these circumstances will not seriously harm our business.
If we are unable to integrate our gear and proprietary software with third-party hardware, operating system software and other products, the
functionality of our gear would be adversely affected, which may seriously harm our business.
The functionality of some of our gear depends on our ability to integrate that gear with the hardware, operating system software and related products
of providers such as Intel, AMD, NVIDIA, Microsoft, Sony and Asus, among others. We rely to a certain extent on the relationships we have with those
companies in developing our gear and resolving issues. There can be no assurance that those relationships will be maintained or that those or other
companies will continue to provide the necessary information and support to allow us to develop gear that integrates with their products or that third party
developers will continue to develop plugins for and integrations with our proprietary software. If integration with the products of those or other companies
becomes more difficult, our gear would likely be more difficult to use or may not be compatible with key hardware, operating systems or other products,
which would seriously harm our reputation and the utility and desirability of our gear, and, as a result, would seriously harm our business.
One of our strategies is to grow through acquisitions, which could result in operating difficulties, dilution to our stockholders and other seriously
harmful consequences.
One of our strategies is to grow through acquisitions and we may also seek to grow through other strategic transactions such as alliances and joint
ventures. In particular, we believe that our future growth depends in part on our ability to enhance our existing product lines and introduce new gear and
categories of gear through acquisitions and other strategic transactions. There is substantial competition for attractive acquisitions and other strategic
transactions, and we may not be successful in completing any such acquisitions or other strategic transactions in the future. If we are successful in making
any acquisition or strategic transaction, we may be unable to integrate the acquired business effectively or may incur unanticipated expenditures, which
could seriously harm our business. The COVID-19 pandemic may make integration of these businesses even more difficult. Acquisitions and strategic
transactions can involve a wide variety of risks depending upon, among other things, the specific business or assets being acquired or the specific terms of
any transaction.
In addition, we may finance acquisitions or investments, strategic partnerships or joint ventures by issuing common stock, which may be dilutive to
our stockholders, or by incurring indebtedness, which could increase our interest expense and leverage, perhaps substantially. Acquisitions and other
investments may also result in charges for the impairment of goodwill or other acquired assets. Acquisitions of, or alliances with, technology companies are
inherently risky, and any acquisitions or investments we make, or alliances we enter into, may not perform in accordance with our expectations.
Accordingly, any of these transactions, if completed, may not be successful and may seriously harm our business.
In addition, foreign acquisitions or strategic transactions with foreign partners involve additional risks, including those related to integration of
operations across different geographies, cultures and languages, as well as risks related to fluctuation in currency exchange rates and risks associated with
the particular economic, political and regulatory environment in specific countries.
We need substantial working capital to operate our business, and we rely to a significant degree upon credit extended by our manufacturers and
suppliers and borrowings under our revolving credit facility to meet our working capital needs. If we are
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unable to meet our working capital needs, we may be required to reduce expenses or product purchases, or delay the development,
commercialization and marketing of our gear, which would seriously harm our business.
We need substantial working capital to operate our business. We rely to a significant degree upon credit extended by many of our manufacturers and
suppliers in order to meet our working capital needs. Credit terms vary from vendor to vendor but typically allow us zero to 120 days to pay for the
products. However, notwithstanding the foregoing, there are instances when we are required to pay for gear in advance of it being manufactured and
delivered to us. We may also utilize borrowings under our revolving credit facility to provide working capital, and access to external debt financing has
historically been and will likely continue to be very important to us. As a result of any downturn in general economic conditions or conditions in the credit
markets or other factors, manufacturers and suppliers may be reluctant to provide us with the same credit that they have in the past, which would require
that we increase the level of borrowing under our revolving credit facility or obtain other external financing to provide for our substantial working capital
needs. Additional financing may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all. In particular, our access to other debt financing is limited by the
negative covenant in our credit agreement restricting our ability to incur other indebtedness, as well as the financial covenants therein prohibiting our
Consolidated Total Net Leverage Ratio from exceeding 3.0 to 1.0 or our Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio being less than 3.0 to 1.0 (both tested
quarterly on a trailing four fiscal quarter basis). As a result, such restrictions could limit, perhaps substantially, the amount of indebtedness we are permitted
to borrow under other debt arrangements.
To the extent we are required to use additional borrowings under our revolving credit facility or from other sources (if available and if permitted by
the credit facility) to provide working capital, it could increase our interest expense and expose us to other risks of leverage. Any inability to meet our
working capital or other cash needs as and when required would likely seriously harm our business, results of operations and financial condition and
adversely affect our growth prospects and stock price and could require, among other things, that we reduce expenses, which might require us to reduce
shipments of our gear or our inventory levels substantially or to delay or curtail the development, commercialization and marketing of our gear.
Indebtedness and the terms of our credit facilities may impair our ability to respond to changing business and economic conditions and may
seriously harm our business.
We had $246.5 million of indebtedness as of March 31, 2022. We have incurred significant indebtedness under our credit facilities to fund working
capital and other cash needs and we expect to incur additional indebtedness in the future, particularly if we use borrowings or other debt financing to
finance all or a portion of any future acquisitions. In addition, the terms of our credit facilities require, and any debt instruments we enter into in the future
may require, that we comply with certain restrictions and covenants. These covenants and restrictions, as well as any significant increase in our
indebtedness, could adversely impact us for a number of reasons, including the following:
Cash flow required to pay debt service. We may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our available cash flow to debt service. This risk is
increased by the fact that borrowings under our credit facilities bear interest at a variable rate. This exposes us to the risk that the amount of cash required
to pay interest under our credit facilities will increase to the extent that market interest increases. Our indebtedness and debt service obligations may also
increase our vulnerability to economic downturns and adverse competitive and industry conditions.
Adverse effect of financial and other covenants. The covenants and other restrictions in our credit facilities and any debt instruments we may enter
into in the future may limit our ability to raise funds for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, product development and other general
corporate requirements, which may adversely affect our ability to finance our operations, any acquisitions or investments or other capital needs or engage
in other business activities that would be in our interests. Restrictive covenants may also limit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions or
otherwise limit our activities or business plans and place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors.
Risks of default. If we breach or are unable to comply with a covenant or other agreement contained in a debt instrument, the lender generally has the
right to declare all borrowings outstanding under that debt instrument, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable and may have the
right to raise the interest rate. Upon an event of default under our credit facilities, the lender may require the immediate repayment of all outstanding loans
and accrued interest. In addition, during the continuance of certain events of default under our credit facilities (subject to a cure period for some events of
default), interest may accrue at a rate that is 200 basis points above the otherwise applicable rate. As a result, any breach or failure to comply with
covenants contained in our debt instruments could seriously harm our business. Moreover, our credit facilities are secured by substantially all of our assets
(including capital stock of our subsidiaries), except assets of our foreign subsidiaries and shares of some of our foreign subsidiaries, and if we are unable to
pay indebtedness secured by collateral when due, whether at maturity or if declared due and payable by the lender following a default, the lender generally
has the right to seize and sell the collateral securing that indebtedness. There can be no assurance that we will not breach the covenants or other terms of
our credit facilities or any other debt instruments in the future and, if
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a breach occurs, there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain necessary waivers or amendments from the lender or to refinance the related
indebtedness on terms we find acceptable, or at all. As a result, any breach or default of this nature may seriously harm our business.
Restrictions under our credit facilities. We must comply with covenants under our current credit facilities, which require the maintenance of a
maximum Consolidated Total Net Leverage Ratio of 3.0 to 1.0 and a minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio of 3.0 to 1.0 (as defined in our credit
facilities). While we were in compliance with all applicable financial covenants under our credit facilities as of March 31, 2022, there can be no assurance
that we will not breach these financial covenants in our credit facilities in the future or other covenants in our future credit facilities.
Our credit facilities also include covenants that limit or restrict our ability to, among other things, incur liens on our properties, make acquisitions and
other investments and sell assets, in each case, subject to specified exceptions. In addition to the covenants described in the preceding sentence, we are also
prohibited from incurring indebtedness other than debt owed to the lenders under our credit facilities, debt associated with certain liens permitted by our
credit facilities, certain subordinated debt and other specified exceptions. Our credit facilities also contain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends or
make distributions in respect of our common stock or redemptions or repurchases of our common stock.
We conduct our operations and sell our gear internationally and the effect of business, legal and political risks associated with international
operations may seriously harm our business.
Sales to customers outside the United States accounted for 56.4% and 63.8% our net revenue for three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. In addition, substantially all of the gear that we sell is manufactured at facilities in Asia. Our international sales and operations are subject to a
wide range of risks, which may vary from country to country or region to region. These risks include the following:
•

export and import duties, changes to import and export regulations, and restrictions on the transfer of funds;

•

political and economic instability;

•

problems with the transportation or delivery of our gear;

•

issues arising from cultural or language differences and labor unrest;

•

longer payment cycles and greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable;

•

compliance with trade and technical standards in a variety of jurisdictions;

•

difficulties in staffing and managing international operations, including the risks associated with fraud, theft and other illegal conduct;

•

compliance with laws and regulations, including environmental, employment and tax laws, which vary from country to country and over time,
increasing the costs of compliance and potential risks of non-compliance;

•

difficulties enforcing our contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign countries that do not respect and protect
intellectual property rights to the same extent as the United States and European countries;

•

the risk that trade to or from some foreign countries, or companies in foreign countries that manufacture our gear or supply components that are
used in our gear, may be affected by political tensions, trade disputes and similar matters, particularly between China and Taiwan, China and the
United States, Russia and Ukraine, and the United States and Russia;

•

United States and foreign trade restrictions, including those that may limit the importation of technology or components to or from various
countries or impose tariffs or quotas;

•

difficulties or increased costs in establishing sales and distribution channels in unfamiliar markets, with their own market characteristics and
competition; and

•

imposition of currency exchange controls or taxes that make it impracticable or costly to repatriate funds from foreign countries.
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To the extent we successfully execute our strategy of expanding into new geographic areas, these and similar risks will increase. There can be no
assurance that the risks relating to our international operations will not seriously harm our business.
System security and data protection breaches, as well as cyber-attacks, could disrupt our operations, reduce our expected revenue and increase
our expenses, which may seriously harm our business.
Security breaches, computer malware and cyber-attacks have become more prevalent and sophisticated in recent years. These threats are constantly
evolving, making it increasingly difficult to successfully defend against them or implement adequate preventative measures. These attacks have occurred
on our systems in the past and are expected to occur in the future. Experienced computer programmers, hackers and employees may penetrate our security
controls and misappropriate or compromise our confidential information or that of our employees or third parties. These attacks may create system
disruptions or cause shutdowns. These hackers may also develop and deploy viruses, worms and other malicious software programs that attack or otherwise
exploit security vulnerabilities in our systems. For example, in early 2021, we discovered the exploitation by hackers of our subsidiary SCUF’s servers,
which may have enabled such hackers to collect information provided by our customers, including payment card information, which is handled by our
third-party ecommerce service provider. Such hackers utilized the credentials we had provided to another third-party to inject a script, which was active for
a limited amount of time, that collected this information provided by customers. Additionally, for portions of our information technology infrastructure,
including business management and communication software products, we rely on products and services provided by third parties. These providers may
also experience breaches and attacks to their products which may impact our systems. Data security breaches may also result from non-technical means,
such as actions by an employee with access to our systems. To defend against security threats, both to our internal systems and those of our customers, we
must continuously engineer more secure products and enhance security and reliability features, which may result in increased expenses.
Actual or perceived breaches of our security measures, those of third-parties or the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure or unapproved
dissemination of proprietary information or sensitive or confidential data about us, our partners, our customers or third parties have exposed, and may in
the future could expose us and the parties affected to a risk of loss or misuse of this information, resulting in litigation and potential liability, paying
damages, regulatory inquiries or actions, damage to our brand and reputation or other serious harm to our business. Our efforts to prevent and overcome
these challenges could increase our expenses and may not be successful. We may experience interruptions, delays, cessation of service and loss of existing
or potential customers. Such disruptions could adversely impact our ability to fulfill orders and interrupt other critical functions. Delayed sales, lower
margins or lost customers as a result of these disruptions may seriously harm our business.
We may not be able to maintain compliance with all current and potentially applicable U.S. federal and state or foreign laws and regulations
relating to privacy and cybersecurity, and actions by regulatory authorities or changes in legislation and regulation in the jurisdictions in which
we operate could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We are subject to a variety of laws, regulations, and industry standards that relate to the collection, processing, storing, disclosing, using, transfer and
protecting of personal data and other data and the privacy of individuals. These laws and regulations constantly evolve and remain subject to significant
change. In addition, the application and interpretation of these laws and regulations are often uncertain. Because we store, process and use data, some of
which contain personal data, we are subject to complex and evolving federal, state and local laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection and
other matters. Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation. The U.S. federal and state governments and agencies
may in the future enact new legislation and promulgate new regulations governing collection, use, disclosure, storage, processing, transmission and
destruction of personal data and other information. New privacy laws add additional complexity, requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require
additional investment in resources to compliance programs, and could impact trading strategies and availability of previously useful data.
In addition, California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, or the CCPA, which came into force in 2020 (and is discussed in further
detail below), which has encouraged “copycat” legislative proposals in other states across the country such as Nevada, Virginia, New Hampshire, Illinois
and Nebraska. These legislative proposals may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional
investment in resources to compliance programs, and could impact strategies and availability of previously useful data.
We are also subject to payment card association operating rules, certification requirements and rules governing electronic funds transfers, including
the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, or PCI DSS, a security standard applicable to companies that collect, store or transmit certain data
regarding credit and debit cards, holders and transactions. Any data security incidents, such as those described above, and/or other issues involving
payment card information, can constitute a failure to comply with PCI DSS, which may therefore violate payment card association operating rules and the
terms of our contracts with payment networks,
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processors and merchant banks. Such failure to comply may result in the loss of our ability to accept credit and debit card payments, subject us to fines,
penalties, and damages. In addition, there is no guarantee that PCI DSS compliance will prevent illegal or improper use of our payment systems or the
theft, loss or misuse of data pertaining to credit and debit cards, credit and debit card holders and credit and debit card transactions.
Compliance with existing and emerging privacy and cybersecurity laws, regulations and industry standards could result in increased compliance costs
and/or lead to changes in business practices and policies, and any failure to protect the confidentiality of client information could adversely affect our
reputation, lead to private litigation against us, and require additional investment in resources, impact strategies and availability of previously useful data
any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
The collection, storage, transmission, use and distribution of user data could give rise to liabilities and additional costs of operation as a result of
laws, governmental regulation and risks of security breaches.
In connection with certain of our gear, we collect data related to our gamers and streamers. This data is increasingly subject to legislation and
regulations in numerous jurisdictions around the world. Government actions are typically intended to protect the privacy and security of personal
information and its collection, storage, transmission, use and distribution in or from the governing jurisdiction. In addition, because various jurisdictions
have different laws and regulations concerning the use, storage and transmission of such information, we may face requirements that pose compliance
challenges in existing markets as well as new international markets that we seek to enter.
Existing privacy-related laws and regulations in the United States and other countries are evolving and are subject to potentially differing
interpretations, and various U.S. federal and state or other international legislative and regulatory bodies may expand or enact laws regarding privacy and
data security-related matters. For example, the European Union General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which came into effect on May 25, 2018,
has led to more stringent operational requirements for processors and controllers of personal data, including, for example, requiring expanded disclosures
about how personal information is to be used, limitations on retention of information, mandatory data breach notification requirements, and higher
standards for data controllers to demonstrate that they have obtained valid consent or have another legal basis in place to justify their data processing
activities. The GDPR provides that European Union member states may make their own additional laws and regulations in relation to certain data
processing activities, which could limit our ability to use and share personal data or could require localized changes to our operating model. Under the
GDPR, fines of up to €20 million or up to 4% of the total worldwide annual revenue of the preceding financial year, whichever is higher, may be assessed
for non-compliance. These new laws also could cause our costs to increase and result in further administrative costs.
Further, the United Kingdom’s decision to leave the European Union, often referred to as Brexit, means that from January 1, 2021, we are subject to
the GDPR and also the UK GDPR, which, together with the amended UK Data Protection Act 2018, retains the GDPR in UK national law. The UK GDPR
mirrors the fines under the GDPR, e.g. fines up to the greater of €20 million / £17.5 million or 4% of global turnover.
Although there are legal mechanisms to allow for the transfer of personal data from the United Kingdom, EEA and Switzerland to the United States,
uncertainty about compliance with such data protection laws remains, and such mechanisms may not be available or applicable with respect to the personal
data processing activities necessary to research, develop and market our products and services. For example, legal challenges in Europe to the mechanisms
allowing companies to transfer personal data from the EEA or the United Kingdom to the United States could result in further limitations on the ability to
transfer personal data across borders, particularly if governments are unable or unwilling to reach new or maintain existing agreements that support crossborder data transfers. Specifically, on July 16, 2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union invalidated Decision 2016/1250 on the adequacy of the
protection provided by the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield Framework and guidance following the Decision requires risk assessments to be conducted and, in
many cases additional safeguards to be implemented to transfer data under the standard contractual clauses. These recent developments will require us to
review and amend the legal mechanisms by which we make and/ or receive personal data transfers to/ in the U.S. At present, there are few if any viable
alternatives to the Standard Contractual Clauses. As supervisory authorities issue further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including
circumstances where the standard contractual clauses cannot be used, and/or start taking enforcement action, we could suffer additional costs, complaints
and/or regulatory investigations or fines, and/or if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we
operate, it could affect the manner in which we provide our services, the geographical location or segregation of our relevant systems and operations, and
could adversely affect our financial results.
We are also subject to evolving European Union and United Kingdom privacy laws on cookies, tracking technologies and e-marketing. In the
European Union and the United Kingdom under national laws derived from the ePrivacy Directive, informed
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consent is required for the placement of a cookie or similar technologies on a user’s device and for direct electronic marketing. The GDPR also imposes
conditions on obtaining valid consent for cookies, such as a prohibition on pre-checked consents and a requirement to ensure separate consents are sought
for each type of cookie or similar technology. The current national laws that implement the ePrivacy Directive are highly likely to be replaced across the
European Union (but not directly in the United Kingdom) by an European Union regulation known as the ePrivacy Regulation which will significantly
increase fines for non-compliance. While the text of the ePrivacy Regulation is still under development, recent European court decisions and regulators’
recent guidance are driving increased attention to cookies and tracking technologies. If the trend of increasing enforcement by regulators of the strict
approach in recent guidance and decisions continues, this could lead to substantial costs, require significant systems changes, limit the effectiveness of our
marketing activities, divert the attention of our technology personnel, adversely affect our margins, increase costs and subject us to additional liabilities.
Regulation of cookies and similar technologies, and any decline of cookies or similar online tracking technologies as a means to identify and potentially
target users, may lead to broader restrictions and impairments on our marketing and personalization activities and may negatively impact our efforts to
understand users.
In addition, the CCPA, which came into force in 2020, creates individual privacy rights for California consumers and increases the privacy and
security obligations of entities handling certain personal data. For example, the CCPA gives California residents expanded rights to access and require
deletion of their personal data, opt out of certain personal data sharing and receive detailed information about how their personal data is used. Failure to
comply with the CCPA creates additional risks including enforcement by the California attorney general, private rights of actions for certain data breaches,
and damage to reputation. The CCPA may increase our compliance costs and potential liability. Additionally, the Consumer Personal Information Law and
Agency Initiative (California Proposition 24), the California Privacy Rights Act was approved by California voters on November 3, 2020. California
Proposition 24 would impose additional data protection obligations on companies doing business in California. It will also create a new California data
protection agency specifically tasked to enforce the law, which could likely result in increased regulatory scrutiny of California businesses in the areas of
data protection and security. The new California Privacy Rights Act takes effect on January 1, 2023 and will apply to information collected on or after
January 1, 2022.
Further, information security risks have generally increased in recent years because of the proliferation of new technologies and the increased
sophistication and activities of perpetrators of cyber-attacks. Hackers and data thieves are increasingly sophisticated and operating large-scale and complex
automated attacks. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to further enhance our information security
measures, develop additional protocols and/or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. We cannot guarantee that our facilities
and systems will be free of security breaches, cyber-attacks, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, malware, ransomware, denial-of-service attacks,
misplaced or lost data, programming and/or human errors or other similar events. Any compromise or perceived compromise of the security of our systems
could damage our reputation, result in disruption or interruption to our business operations, reduce demand for our products and subject us to significant
liability and expense as well as regulatory action and lawsuits, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
In addition, any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with privacy or security laws, policies, legal obligations or industry standards, or any
security incident that results in the actual or alleged unauthorized release or transfer of personal data, may result in governmental enforcement actions and
investigations, including fines and penalties, enforcement orders requiring us to cease processing or operating in a certain way, litigation and/or adverse
publicity, including by consumer advocacy groups, and could cause our customers to lose trust in us, which could have material impacts on our revenue and
operations and could seriously harm our business. We may also face civil claims including representative actions and other class action type litigation
(where individuals have suffered harm), potentially amounting to significant compensation or damages liabilities, as well as associated costs, diversion of
internal resources, and reputational harm.
We may be adversely affected by the financial condition of retailers and distributors to whom we sell our gear and may also be adversely affected
by the financial condition of our competitors.
Retailers and distributors of consumer electronics products have, from time to time, experienced significant fluctuations in their businesses and some
of them have become insolvent. A retailer or distributor experiencing such difficulties will generally not purchase and sell as much of our gear as it would
under normal circumstances and may cancel orders. In addition, a retailer or distributor experiencing financial difficulties generally increases our exposure
to uncollectible receivables. Moreover, if one of our distributor or retailer customers experiences financial distress or bankruptcy, they may be required to
liquidate their inventory of our gear, or similar products that compete with our gear, at reduced prices, which can result in substantial over-supply and
reduced demand for our gear over the short term. If any of these circumstances were to occur, it could seriously harm our business.
Likewise, our competitors may from time to time experience similar financial difficulties or may elect to terminate their sales of certain products. If
one of our competitors experiences financial distress or bankruptcy and is forced to liquidate inventory or exits a
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product line and disposes of inventory at reduced prices, this may also result in over-supply of and reduced demand for our gear and could have a shortterm adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Our online operations are subject to numerous risks that may seriously harm our business.
Our online operations, where we sell a number of products through our online stores, subject us to certain risks that could seriously harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations. For example, the operation and expansion of our online stores may seriously harm our relationships with our
retailers and distributors. Further, existing and future regulations and laws could impede the growth of our online operations. These regulations and laws
may involve taxes, tariffs, privacy and data security, anti-spam, content protection, electronic contracts and communications, consumer protection and
social media marketing. We cannot be sure that our practices have complied, comply or will comply fully with all such laws and regulations. Any failure,
or perceived failure, by us to comply with any of these laws or regulations could result in damage to our reputation, a loss in business and proceedings or
actions against us by governmental entities or others. Any such proceeding or action could hurt our reputation, force us to spend significant amounts in
defense of these proceedings, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business and decrease the use of our sites by gamers, streamers and
suppliers and may result in the imposition of monetary liability.
In addition, our online stores are partially handled by a third-party ecommerce service provider. We rely on this service provider to handle, among
other things, payment and processing of online sales. If the service provider does not perform these functions satisfactorily, we may find another third-party
service provider or undertake such operations ourselves, but we may not be able to successfully do either. In either case, our online sales and our customer
service reputation could be adversely affected which, in turn, may seriously harm our business.
We may recognize restructuring and impairment charges in future periods, which will adversely affect our operating results and could seriously
harm our business.
Depending on market and economic conditions in future periods, we may implement restructuring initiatives. As a result of these initiatives, we could
incur restructuring charges, lose key personnel and experience disruptions in our operations and difficulties in delivering our gear.
We are required to test goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets for recoverability and may be required to record charges if there are
indicators of impairment, and we have in the past recognized impairment charges. As of March 31, 2022, we had approximately $348.4 million of
goodwill, $249.8 million of intangible assets and $74.7 million of other long-lived assets. One of our strategies is to grow through acquisitions of other
businesses or technologies and, if we are successful in doing so, these acquisitions may result in goodwill and other long-lived assets. The risk that we will
be required to recognize impairment charges is also heightened by the fact that the life cycles of much of the gear we sell are relatively short, which
increases the possibility that we may be required to recognize impairment charges for obsolete inventory. Impairment charges will adversely affect our
operating results and could seriously harm our business.
Our future success depends to a large degree on our ability to defend the Corsair brand and product family brands such as SCUF, Vengeance,
K70, Elgato and iCUE from infringement and, if we are unable to protect our brand and other intellectual property, our business may be seriously
harmed.
We consider the Corsair brand to be one of our most valuable assets. We also consider the Elgato, Origin, and SCUF brands, proprietary technology
brands such as iCUE and Slipstream, and major product family brands such as Corsair ONE, Dark Core, Dominator, Glaive, Harpoon, Ironclaw, K70,
K100, Nightsword, Scimitar, Vengeance, Virtuoso and Void to be important to our business. Our future success depends to a large degree upon our ability
to defend the Corsair brand, proprietary technology brands and product family brands from infringement and to protect our other intellectual property. We
rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, patent and other intellectual property laws and confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions such as
nondisclosure terms to protect our intellectual property. Although we hold a trademark registration on the Corsair name in the United States and a number
of other countries, the Corsair name does not have trademark protection in other parts of the world, including some major markets, and we may be unable
to register the Corsair name as a trademark in some countries. Likewise, we hold a trademark registration on certain brands such as K70 only in the United
States, Australia and New Zealand and therefore such brands do not have trademark protection in other parts of the world. If third parties misappropriate or
infringe on our brands or we are unable to protect our brands, or if third parties use the Corsair, Corsair ONE, Dark Core, Dominator, Elgato, Glaive,
Harpoon, iCUE, Ironclaw, K70, K100, Nightsword, Origin, SCUF, Slipstream, Scimitar, Vengeance, Virtuoso and Void brand names, or other brand names
we maintain, to sell their products in countries where we do not have trademark protection, it may seriously harm our business.
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We hold a limited number of patents and pending patent applications. It is possible that any patent owned by us will be invalidated, deemed
unenforceable, circumvented or challenged and that our pending or any future patent applications will not be granted. In addition, other intellectual
property laws or our confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions may not adequately protect our intellectual property and others may
independently develop similar technology, duplicate our gear, or design around any intellectual property rights we may have. Any of these events may
seriously harm our business.
Certain of the licenses pursuant to which we are permitted to use the intellectual property of third parties can be terminated at any time by us or the
other party. If we are unable to negotiate and maintain licenses on acceptable terms, we will be required to develop alternative technology internally or
license it from other third parties, which may be difficult and costly or impossible.
The expansion of our business will require us to protect our trademarks, domain names, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights in an
increasing number of jurisdictions, a process that is expensive and sometimes requires litigation. If we are unable to protect and enforce our trademarks,
domain names, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights, or prevent third parties from infringing upon them, our business may be seriously
harmed.
We have taken steps in the past to enforce our intellectual property rights and expect to continue to do so in the future. However, it may not be
practical or cost-effective for us to enforce our rights with respect to certain items of intellectual property rights fully, or at all, particularly in developing
countries where the enforcement of intellectual property rights may be more difficult than in the United States. It is also possible that, given the costs of
obtaining patent protection, we may choose not to seek patent protection for certain items of intellectual property that may later turn out to be important.
Some of our products contain open source software, which may pose particular risks to our proprietary software and products.
Our products rely on software licensed by third parties under open source licenses, including as incorporated into software we receive from third-party
commercial software vendors, and will continue to rely on such open source software in the future. Use of open source software may entail greater risks
than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide support, updates, warranties or other contractual protections
regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code, and the wide availability of source code to components used in our products could expose us to
security vulnerabilities. Further, the terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could
be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market or commercialize our products. As a result, we may
face claims from third parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software. In addition, by the terms of some open source licenses,
under certain conditions, we could be required to release our proprietary source code, and to make our proprietary software available under open source
licenses, including authorizing further modification and redistribution. These claims or requirements could result in litigation and could require us to
purchase a costly license or cease offering the implicated products unless and until we can re-engineer them to avoid infringement or release of our
proprietary source code. This re-engineering process could require significant additional research and development resources. In addition, we have
intentionally made certain software we have developed available on an open source basis, both by contributing modifications back to existing open source
projects, and by making certain internally developed tools available pursuant to open source licenses, and we plan to continue to do so in the future. While
we engage in a review process for any such contributions, which is designed to protect any code that may be competitively sensitive, it is still possible that
our competitors or others could use this code for competitive purposes, or for commercial or other purposes beyond what we intended. Any of these risks
could be difficult to eliminate or manage, and, if not addressed, could seriously harm our business.
We are, have in the past been, and may in the future be, subject to intellectual property infringement claims, which are costly to defend, could
require us to pay damages or royalties and could limit our ability to use certain technologies in the future.
Companies in the technology industry are frequently subject to litigation or disputes based on allegations of infringement or other violations of
intellectual property rights. We have faced claims that we have infringed, or that our use of components or products supplied to us by third parties have
infringed, patents or other intellectual property rights of others in the past and may in the future face similar claims. While we are currently involved in an
intellectual property infringement claim, we do not believe such claim will have a material adverse effect on our business.
Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, can be time-consuming, expensive to litigate or settle and can divert management resources
and attention. For example, in the past we have settled claims relating to infringement allegations and agreed to make royalty or license payments in
connection with such settlements. An adverse determination could require that we pay damages, which could be substantial, or stop using technologies
found to be in violation of a third-party’s rights and could prevent us from selling some of our gear. In order to avoid these restrictions, we may have to
seek a license for the technology. Any such license may
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not be available on reasonable terms or at all, could require us to pay significant royalties and may significantly increase our operating expenses or
otherwise seriously harm our business or operating results. As a result, we may be required to develop alternative non-infringing technologies, which could
require significant effort and expense and might not be successful or, if alternative non-infringing technologies already exist, we may be required to license
those technologies from third parties, which may be expensive or impossible. If we cannot license or develop technologies for any infringing aspects of our
business, we may be forced to halt sales of our gear incorporating the infringing technologies and may be unable to compete effectively. Any of these
results may seriously harm our business.
We and our contract manufacturers may be adversely affected by seismic activity or other natural disasters, and our business continuity and
disaster recovery plans may not adequately protect us from a serious disaster.
Our corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area and the testing and packaging of most of our DRAM modules take place in our
facility in Taiwan. Both locations are known to experience earthquakes from time to time, some of which have been severe. In addition, typhoons and other
severe weather systems frequently affect Taiwan. Most of the third-party facilities where our gear and some of the components used in our gear is
manufactured are located in China, Taiwan, Southeast Asia and other areas that are known for seismic activity and other natural disasters. Earthquakes in
any of the foregoing areas may also result in tsunamis. We do not carry earthquake insurance. As a result, earthquakes or other natural disasters could
severely disrupt our operations, either directly or as a result of their effect on third-party manufacturers and suppliers upon whom we rely and their
respective supply chains and may negatively impact the ordering patterns of our customers and may seriously harm our business.
We are subject to various environmental laws, conflict mineral-related provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act and other regulations that could impose
substantial costs upon us and may seriously harm our business.
Our operations, properties and the gear we sell are subject to a variety of U.S. and foreign environmental laws and regulations governing, among other
things, air emissions, wastewater discharges, management and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous materials and waste, and remediation of releases of
hazardous materials. Our failure to comply with present and future requirements under these laws and regulations, or environmental contamination or
releases of hazardous materials on our leased premises, as well as through disposal of our gear, could cause us to incur substantial costs, including cleanup costs, personal injury and property damage claims, fines and penalties, costs to redesign our gear or upgrade our facilities and legal costs, or require us
to curtail our operations. Environmental contamination or releases of hazardous materials may also subject us to claims of property damage or personal
injury, which could result in litigation and require us to make substantial payments to satisfy adverse judgments or pay settlements. Liability under
environmental laws can be joint and several and without regard to comparative fault. We also expect that our operations will be affected by new
environmental laws and regulations on an ongoing basis, which will likely result in additional costs. Environmental laws and regulations could also require
that we redesign our gear or change how our gear is made, any of which could seriously harm our business. The costs of complying with environmental
laws and regulations or the effect of any claims or liability concerning or resulting from noncompliance or environmental contamination could also
seriously harm our business.
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the SEC adopted disclosure and reporting requirements for companies that use “conflict” minerals originating from the
Democratic Republic of Congo or adjoining countries. We continue to incur costs associated with complying with these requirements, such as costs related
to developing internal controls for the due diligence process, determining the source of any conflict minerals used in our gear, auditing the process and
reporting to our customers and the SEC. In addition to the SEC regulation, the European Union, China and other jurisdictions are developing new policies
focused on conflict minerals that may impact and increase the cost of our compliance program. Also, since our supply chain is complex, we may face
reputational challenges if we are unable to sufficiently verify the origins of the subject minerals. Moreover, we are likely to encounter challenges to satisfy
those customers who require that all of the components of our gear are certified as “conflict free.” If we cannot satisfy these customers, they may choose a
competitor’s products.
The U.S. federal government has issued new policies for federal procurement focused on eradicating the practice of forced labor and human
trafficking. In addition, the United Kingdom and the State of California have issued laws that require us to disclose our policy and practices for identifying
and eliminating forced labor and human trafficking in our supply chain. While we have a policy and management systems to identify and avoid these
practices in our supply chain, we cannot guarantee that our suppliers will always be in conformance to these laws and expectations. We may face
enforcement liability and reputational challenges if we are unable to sufficiently meet these expectations.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock
We are controlled by EagleTree, whose interests in our business may be different than yours.
As of March 31, 2022, EagleTree beneficially owned approximately 56.8% of our common stock and is able to control our affairs in all cases. Further,
pursuant to the terms of an Investor Rights Agreement between us and EagleTree, EagleTree has the right, among other things, to designate the chairman of
our board of directors, as well as the right to nominate up to five out of eight directors to our board of directors as long as affiliates of EagleTree
beneficially own at least 50% of our common stock, four directors as long as affiliates of EagleTree beneficially own at least 40% and less than 50% of our
common stock, three directors as long as affiliates of EagleTree beneficially own at least 30% and less than 40% of our common stock, two directors as
long as affiliates of EagleTree beneficially own at least 20% and less than 30% of our common stock and one director as long as affiliates of EagleTree
beneficially own at least 10% and less than 20% of our common stock.
As a result of the foregoing, EagleTree or its respective designees to our board of directors will have the ability to control the appointment of our
management, the entering into of mergers, sales of substantially all or all of our assets and other extraordinary transactions and influence amendments to
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws. So long as EagleTree continues to beneficially own a majority of our common stock, they
will have the ability to control the vote in any election of directors and will have the ability to prevent any transaction that requires stockholder approval
regardless of whether other stockholders believe the transaction is in our best interests. In any of these matters, the interests of EagleTree may differ from
or conflict with your interests. Moreover, this concentration of stock ownership may also adversely affect the trading price for our common stock to the
extent investors perceive disadvantages in owning stock of a company with a controlling stockholder. In addition, EagleTree is in the business of making
investments in companies and may, from time to time, acquire interests in businesses that directly or indirectly compete with our business, as well as
businesses that are our significant existing or potential suppliers or customers. EagleTree may acquire or seek to acquire assets that we seek to acquire and,
as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us or may be more expensive for us to pursue.
We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq rules and, as a result, will qualify for, and intend to rely on, exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements. You will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such
requirements.
EagleTree controls a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a result, we are a “controlled company” within the meaning
of the corporate governance standards of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, or Nasdaq. Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting
power is held by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance
requirements, including requirements that:
•

a majority of our board of directors consist of “independent directors” as defined under the rules of Nasdaq;

•

our board of directors have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the
committee purpose and responsibilities; and

•

our director nominations be made, or recommended to the full board of directors, by our independent directors or by a nominations committee
that is composed entirely of independent directors and that we adopt a written charter or board resolution addressing the nominations process.

We currently utilize certain of these exemptions. As a result, pursuant to an agreement with EagleTree, nominations for certain of our directors will be
made by EagleTree based on its ownership of our outstanding voting stock. Accordingly, for so long as we are a “controlled company,” you will not have
the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq. In the event that we
cease to be a “controlled company” and our shares continue to be listed on Nasdaq, we will be required to comply with these provisions within the
applicable transition periods.
The market price of our common stock may be volatile and may decline.
The stock market in general, and the market for stocks of technology companies in particular, has been highly volatile. As a result, the market price of
our common stock is likely to be volatile, and investors in our common stock may experience a decrease, which could be substantial, in the value of their
common stock or the loss of their entire investment for a number of reasons, including reasons unrelated to our operating performance or prospects. The
market price of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a broad and diverse range of factors, including those described
elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section and the following:
•

variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors;
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•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

•

changes in estimates or recommendations by securities analysts concerning us or our competitors;

•

publication of research reports by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry;

•

our failure or the failure of our competitors to meet analysts’ estimates or guidance that we or our competitors may give to the market;

•

additions and departures of key personnel;

•

strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in
business strategy;

•

developments of new technologies or other innovations;

•

the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments affecting us or our industry;

•

speculation in the press or investment community;

•

changes in accounting principles;

•

the outbreak of epidemics or pandemics, such as the coronavirus pandemic;

•

natural disasters, terrorist acts, acts of war or periods of widespread civil unrest, such as any military actions taken as a result of the war between
Russia and Ukraine; and

•

changes in general market and economic conditions.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been initiated against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of
litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources and could also require us to make substantial payments to
satisfy judgments or to settle litigation.
An active, liquid and orderly market for our common stock may not be maintained.
Our stock only recently began trading on Nasdaq, but we can provide no assurance that we will be able to maintain an active trading market on
Nasdaq or any other exchange in the future. If an active market for our common stock is not maintained, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell
shares without depressing the market price for the shares or at all. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling shares and may
impair our ability to acquire other businesses, applications, or technologies using our shares as consideration.
Future sales of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.
If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public, the trading price of our
common stock could decline. Based upon the number of shares outstanding as of March 31, 2022, we had outstanding a total of 95.4 million shares of
common stock. Of these shares, all of the shares of our common stock sold in the initial public offering and in the secondary offering in January 2021, are
freely tradable, without restriction, in the public market.
As of March 31, 2022, the holders of approximately 54.2 million shares of our common stock, or approximately 56.8% of our total outstanding
common stock based upon the number of shares outstanding as of March 31, 2022, will be entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares
under the Securities Act. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in the shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under
the Securities Act, except for shares purchased by affiliates. Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the
trading price of our common stock.
If we sell shares of our common stock in future financings, stockholders may experience immediate dilution and, as a result, our stock price may
decline.
We may from time to time issue additional shares of common stock at a discount from the current trading price of our common stock. As a result, our
stockholders would experience immediate dilution upon the purchase of any shares of our common stock sold at such discount. In addition, as opportunities
present themselves, we may enter into financing or similar arrangements in the future, including the issuance of debt securities, preferred stock or common
stock. If we issue common stock or securities convertible into common stock, our common stockholders would experience additional dilution and, as a
result, our stock price may decline.
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain antitakeover provisions that could delay, deter or
prevent takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable or attempts to replace or remove our management that would be beneficial to
our stockholders.
Certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could delay, deter or prevent a change in
control or other takeover of our company that our stockholders might consider to be in their best interests, including transactions that might result in a
premium being paid over the market price of our common stock and also may limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future for our common
stock. These provisions may also have the effect of preventing changes in our management. For example, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include anti-takeover provisions that:
•

authorize our board of directors, without further action by the stockholders, to issue preferred stock in one or more series and, with respect to
each series, to fix the number of shares constituting that series and to establish the rights and other terms of that series, which may include
dividend and liquidation rights and preferences, conversion rights and voting rights;

•

require that actions to be taken by our stockholders may only be taken at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders and not be taken by
majority written consent when EagleTree owns less than a majority of our outstanding common stock;

•

specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by the Secretary at the direction of our board of directors or the Chairman of
our board of directors and not by our stockholders or any other persons when EagleTree owns less than a majority of our outstanding common
stock;

•

establish advance notice procedures for stockholders to submit nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors and other
proposals to be brought before a stockholders meeting;

•

provide that directors may be removed only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of at least 66-2/3% in voting power of the thenoutstanding shares of capital stock of our company when EagleTree owns less than 50% in voting power of our stock entitled to vote at an
election of directors;

•

provide for the sole power of the board of directors, or EagleTree in the case of a vacancy of one of their respective board designees, to fill any
vacancy on the board of directors, whether such vacancy occurs as a result of an increase in the number of directors or otherwise;

•

divide our board of directors into three classes, serving staggered terms of three years each;

•

do not give the holders of our common stock cumulative voting rights with respect to the election of directors, which means that the holders of a
majority of our outstanding shares of common stock can elect all directors standing for election;

•

require the affirmative vote by the holders of at least two-thirds of the combined voting power of all shares of our outstanding capital stock
entitled to vote generally in the election of our directors (voting as a single class) in order to amend certain provisions of our certificate of
incorporation or bylaws, including those provisions changing the size of the

•

board of directors, the removal of certain directors, the availability of action by majority written consent of the stockholders or the restriction on
business combinations with interested stockholders, among others; and

•

when EagleTree owns less than a majority of our outstanding common stock, require the affirmative vote by the holders of at least two-thirds of
the combined voting power of all shares of our outstanding capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of our directors (voting as a
single class) for any amendment, alteration, change, addition, rescission or repeal of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation.

We have opted out of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, which prevents stockholders holding more than 15% of our
outstanding common stock from engaging in certain business combinations involving us unless certain conditions are satisfied. However, our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation will include similar provisions that we may not engage in certain business combinations with interested stockholders
for a period of three years following the time that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, subject to certain conditions. Pursuant to the terms of
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, EagleTree will not be considered an interested stockholder for purposes of this provision.
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Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and
may reduce the amount of money available to us.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, in
each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.
In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, our amended and restated bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we have entered
into with our directors and officers provide that:
•

we will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the
fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith
and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal
proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful;

•

we may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law;

•

we are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such
directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification;

•

we will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiated by that person
against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our board of directors or brought to enforce a right to
indemnification;

•

the rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with
our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons; and

•

we may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers,
employees and agents.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We do not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to invest our future
earnings, if any, to fund our growth. Therefore, you are not likely to receive any dividends on your common stock for the foreseeable future. Since we do
not intend to pay dividends, your ability to receive a return on your investment will depend on any future appreciation in the market value of our common
stock. There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate or even maintain the price at which our holders have purchased it.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about our business, if they adversely change their
recommendations regarding our shares or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, the market price of our common stock could
decline.
The market price of our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If
one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets,
which in turn could cause the market price or trading volume of our common stock to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts who cover our
company downgrade our common stock or if our operating results or prospects do not meet their expectations, the market price of our common stock could
decline.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive
forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum for: (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (b) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, employees or agents to us or our stockholders; (c) any action asserting
a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; or
(d) any action asserting a claim related to or
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involving our company that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also provides that the federal
district courts of the Unites States will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action against us or any of our
directors, officers, employees or agents and arising under the Securities Act. The choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a
claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits
against us and our directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in
other jurisdictions, which could seriously harm our business. The choice of forum provision requiring that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware
be the exclusive forum for certain actions would not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains a provision renouncing our interest and expectancy in certain corporate
opportunities.
Under our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, none of EagleTree or any of its respective portfolio companies, funds or other affiliates,
or any of their officers, directors, agents, stockholders, members or partners will have any duty to refrain from engaging, directly or indirectly, in the same
business activities, similar business activities or lines of business in which we operate. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, no officer or director of ours who is also an officer, director, employee, managing director or other
affiliate of EagleTree will be liable to us or our stockholders for breach of any fiduciary duty by reason of the fact that any such individual was presented
with a corporate opportunity, other than specifically in their capacity as one of our officers or directors, and ultimately directs such corporate opportunity to
EagleTree instead of us, or does not communicate information regarding a corporate opportunity to us that the officer, director, employee, managing
director or other affiliate has directed to EagleTree. For instance, a director of our company who also serves as a director, officer or employee of EagleTree,
or any of its respective portfolio companies, funds or other affiliates may pursue certain acquisitions or other opportunities that may be complementary to
our business and, as a result, such acquisition or other opportunities may not be available to us. As of March 31, 2022, this provision of our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation relates only to the EagleTree director designees. These potential conflicts of interest could seriously harm our business
if attractive corporate opportunities are allocated by EagleTree to itself or its respective portfolio companies, funds or other affiliates instead of to us.
General Risk Factors
We may be subject to future tax audits in various jurisdictions, which may seriously harm our business.
We operate in multiple jurisdictions, are taxed pursuant to the tax laws of each of these jurisdictions and may be subject to future tax audits in each of
these jurisdictions. Because we have substantial operations in a number of locations worldwide, tax authorities in various jurisdictions may raise questions
concerning matters such as transfer pricing, whether revenues or expenses should be attributed to particular countries, the presence or absence of permanent
establishments in particular countries and similar matters. In addition, we have engaged in a number of material restructuring transactions in various
jurisdictions, and the tax positions we have adopted in connection with these restructuring transactions may be subject to challenge. Accordingly, a material
assessment by a tax authority in any jurisdiction could require that we make significant cash payments without reimbursement. If this were to occur, our
business may be seriously harmed.
Failure to comply with other laws and governmental regulations may seriously harm our business.
Our business is subject to regulation by various federal and state governmental agencies. Such regulation includes the consumer protection laws of the
Federal Trade Commission, the import/export regulatory activities of the Department of Commerce, the product safety regulatory activities of the
Consumer Products Safety Commission, the regulatory activities of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the environmental regulatory
activities of the Environmental Protection Agency, the labor regulatory activities of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and tax and other
regulations by a variety of regulatory authorities in each of the areas in which we conduct business. We are also subject to regulation in other countries
where we conduct business. In certain jurisdictions, such regulatory requirements may be more stringent than in the United States. We are also subject to a
variety of federal, state and foreign employment and labor laws and regulations, including the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Federal Fair Labor
Standards Act and other laws and regulations related to working conditions, wage-hour pay, overtime pay, employee benefits, anti-discrimination and
termination of employment.
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Noncompliance with applicable regulations or requirements could subject us to investigations, sanctions, mandatory product recalls, enforcement
actions, fines, damages, civil and criminal penalties or injunctions. In certain of these instances the former employee has brought legal proceedings against
us, and we expect that we will encounter similar actions against us in the future. An adverse outcome in any such litigation could require us to pay
damages, which may include punitive damages, attorneys’ fees and costs.
As a result, noncompliance or any related enforcement or civil actions could result in governmental sanctions and possible civil or criminal litigation,
which could seriously harm our business and result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources.
Failure to comply with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, other applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, and applicable trade
control laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences that may seriously harm our business.
Our gear is manufactured and/or assembled in China, Taiwan, where we maintain a manufacturing facility, countries in Southeast Asia and the United
Kingdom and we sell our gear in many countries outside of the United States. Our operations are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the
FCPA, as well as the anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws in the countries where we do business. The FCPA prohibits covered parties from offering,
promising, authorizing or giving anything of value, directly or indirectly, to a “foreign government official” with the intent of improperly influencing the
official’s act or decision, inducing the official to act or refrain from acting in violation of lawful duty, or obtaining or retaining an improper business
advantage. The FCPA also requires publicly traded companies to maintain records that accurately and fairly represent their transactions and to have an
adequate system of internal accounting controls. In addition, other applicable anti-corruption laws prohibit bribery of domestic government officials, and
some laws that may apply to our operations prohibit commercial bribery, including giving or receiving improper payments to or from non-government
parties, as well as so-called “facilitation” payments. In addition, we are subject to U.S. and other applicable trade control regulations that restrict with
whom we may transact business, including the trade sanctions enforced by the U.S. Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC.
While we have implemented policies, internal controls and other measures reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable anticorruption and anti-bribery laws and regulations, and certain safeguards designed to ensure compliance with U.S. trade control laws, our employees or
agents may engage in improper conduct for which we might be held responsible. Any violations of these anti-corruption or trade controls laws, or even
allegations of such violations, can lead to an investigation and/or enforcement action, which could disrupt our operations, involve significant management
distraction, and lead to significant costs and expenses, including legal fees. If we, or our employees or agents acting on our behalf, are found to have
engaged in practices that violate these laws and regulations, we could suffer severe fines and penalties, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct,
securities litigation, bans on transacting government business, delisting from securities exchanges and other consequences that may seriously harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our brand and reputation, our sales activities or our stock price could be adversely
affected if we become the subject of any negative publicity related to actual or potential violations of anti-corruption, anti-bribery or trade control laws and
regulations.
As a public reporting company, we are subject to rules and regulations established from time to time by the SEC and Nasdaq regarding our
internal controls over financial reporting. We may not complete needed improvements to our internal controls over financial reporting in a timely
manner, or these internal controls may not be determined to be effective, which may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a
result, the value of our common stock and your investment.
We are subject to the rules and regulations established from time to time by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and Nasdaq. These
rules and regulations require, among other things, that we establish and periodically evaluate procedures with respect to our internal controls over financial
reporting. As part of these evaluations, material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting may be identified. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal controls over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of a company’s annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. While we were able to
remediate previously identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting, there can be no guarantee we will not identify similar
or other material weaknesses in the future and if such material weaknesses are identified, there can be no guarantee we would be able to remediate such
material weaknesses. Any material weaknesses in our internal controls may adversely affect our ability to record, process, summarize and accurately report
timely financial information and, as a result, our consolidated financial statements may contain material misstatements or omissions.
Reporting obligations as a public company place a considerable strain on our financial and management systems, processes and controls, as well as on
our personnel. In addition, as a public company we are required to document and test our internal controls over
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financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act so that our management can certify as to the effectiveness of our internal controls
over financial reporting. Likewise, our independent registered public accounting firm is required to provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K. If our management is unable to certify the effectiveness of our internal
controls or if our independent registered public accounting firm cannot deliver a report attesting to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial
reporting, or if we identify or fail to remediate material weaknesses in our internal controls, we could be subject to regulatory scrutiny and a loss of public
confidence, which could seriously harm our reputation and the market price of our common stock. In addition, if we do not maintain adequate financial and
management personnel, processes and controls, we may not be able to manage our business effectively or accurately report our financial performance on a
timely basis, which could cause a decline in our common stock price and may seriously harm our business.
We will incur significant expenses as a result of being a public company, which will negatively impact our financial performance.
As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We are subject to the
reporting requirements of the U.S. Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which will require, among other things, that we file with the
SEC annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules
subsequently adopted by the SEC and the stock exchange on which our securities are listed to implement provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose
significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes
in corporate governance practices. Further, pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or the Dodd-Frank Act,
the SEC has adopted additional rules and regulations in these areas, such as mandatory “say-on-pay” voting requirements. Stockholder activism, the current
political environment and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure
obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently
anticipate.
The rules and regulations applicable to public companies have substantially increased our legal and financial compliance costs. If these requirements
divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results
of operations. The increased costs will decrease our net income or increase our net loss, and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or
increase the prices of our gear. For example, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director
and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the
amount or timing of additional costs we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for
us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers. Further, if we are unable to
satisfy our obligations as a public company, we could be subject to delisting of our common stock, fines, sanctions and other regulatory action and
potentially civil litigation.
Our business could be negatively impacted by corporate citizenship and ESG matters and/or our reporting of such matters.
Institutional, individual, and other investors, proxy advisory services, regulatory authorities, consumers and other stakeholders are increasingly
focused on environmental, social and governance, or ESG, practices of companies. As we look to respond to evolving standards for identifying, measuring,
and reporting ESG metrics, our efforts may result in a significant increase in costs and may nevertheless not meet investor or other stakeholder expectations
and evolving standards or regulatory requirements, which may negatively impact our financial results, our reputation, our ability to attract or retain
employees, our attractiveness as a service provider, investment, or business partner, or expose us to government enforcement actions, private litigation, and
actions by stockholders or stakeholders.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
Not applicable.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
Incorporated by
Reference
Exhibit
Number

Description

Form

Exhibit

Date Filed

Filed
Herewith

3.1

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

8‑K

3.1

09/25/2020

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws.

8‑K

3.2

09/25/2020

4.1

Form of common stock certificate of Registrant.

S-1/A

4.2

09/18/2020

4.2

Investor Rights Agreement, by and between Corsair Gaming, Inc. and Corsair Group
(Cayman), LP.

S-1/A

4.3

09/18/2020

4.3

Description of Corsair’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

10-K

4.3

03/11/2021

4.4

Registration Rights Agreement, by and between Corsair Gaming, Inc. and Corsair
Group (Cayman), LP.

S-1/A

4.4

09/14/2020

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer under Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a‑14(a) and 15d‑14(a).

X

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer under Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a‑14(a) and 15d‑14(a).

X

32.1*

Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. 1350 and Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a‑14(b).

X

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the
Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document

X

101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

X

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

X

101.DEF

X

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

X

101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

X

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

X

104
*

The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of Corsair Gaming, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made
before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Corsair Gaming, Inc.

Date: May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Michael G. Potter
Michael G. Potter
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Gregg A. Lakritz
Gregg A. Lakritz
Vice President, Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Andrew J. Paul, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Corsair Gaming, Inc.

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Andrew J. Paul
Andrew J. Paul
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michael G. Potter, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Corsair Gaming, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Michael G. Potter
Michael G. Potter
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the quarterly report of Corsair Gaming, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 (the
“Report”), Andrew J. Paul, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Michael G. Potter, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each certify, to the
best of his knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.

Date: May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Andrew J. Paul
Andrew J. Paul
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Michael G. Potter
Michael G. Potter
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

